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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

WILLIAM PIERCE,
PLAINTIFF,
V. Civ. No. 13cv-0134(KBJ)

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,

DEFENDANT.
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MEMORANDUM OPINION
(Public Version of ECF No0.82)

Incarcerationnherently involves the relinquishment of many privileges
however,prisonersstill retain certain civil rights, including protections against
disability discrimination.SeeUnited Statew. Georgig 546 U.S. 151 (2006Pa. Dep't
of Corr. v. Yeskeys24 U.S. 2061998) Plaintiff William Pierce—who is profoundly
deafand communicatewith American Sign Languageclaims that prison officials in
the District of Columbiaviolated his right to be free from unlawfdlsability
discriminationin 2012,when Pierce was incarcerated the District’'sCorrectional
Treatment Facilityfollowing his guilty plea toca simple assaulthat aroseout of a
domestic dispute with his themartner. The District’s prison staffwasindisputably
aware that Pierce was de&fbwever,during the entire 5day period in whictPierce
was heldin custody,no staff persoreverassessed Piercefgeed for accommodation or
otherwise undertook tdeterminethe type of assistancehathe would need to
communicate effectively with otheduring his incarceratian Insteadaccording to

Pierce,the District'semployees and contractomserelyassumed that Ijpeading and
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exchanging written notesould suffice, andhey largely ignoredhis repeatedequests
for an interpreteto assist himn interactingwith other people As a result, Pierce
asserts that he was forced to servegdrisontime in abject isolationgenerally unaware
of what was going on around him and unabledonmunicateeffectivelywith prison
officials, prison doctors, his counselor, his teacher, or his fellow ignd&erce has
filed the instant lawsuit against the Distriotder the Americans with Disabilities Act
of 1990 Pub.L. No. 101336, 104 Stat. 37 (1990), codiied as amended at 42 U.S.C.
881210112213 andthe Rehabilitation Acbf 1973 Pub. L. No. 93112, 87 Stat. 355
(1973), codified as amended at 29 U.S.€.7981-796, seeking damages for allegedly
having beerdeniedan effective means of receiving or imparting informatiarvarious
critical points during his period of incarceratiancludingmedical appointments,
rehabilitative classesndmeetingswith prison officials (SeeCompl., ECF No. 1,
1122, 43-50.) Pierce also maintains thhe was heldn solitary confinement as
punishment for hisepeatd requests for an interpreteand thusthat the District’s
employeesand contractorsetaliated against him in violation of federal laiSee id
1930, 45,51)

Before this Court at present are the parties’ cross motions for symmar
judgment. SeePl.’s Mot. for Partial Summ. J. as to Claims | and Il of the Compl., ECF
No. 47; Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J. (“Def.’s Mot.”), ECF No. 49T)he parties
vehementlydisagree abounany of the facts related to this caseost notably,
whether Piercactually hadhe ability tocommunicate effectively throunglip-reading
and written notesandalsowhether Piercactuallyrequested an interpreter as an

accommodation for his hearing disility. But in this Courts view, only onefact is



truly material to tle quesion of whetheror notPiercewas discriminated againsn the
basis of his disabilityandis thus entitledto summary judgment ohis discrimination
claims Claims | and Il of the amplain), and that fact is entirely undisputedrhen
Pierce first arrivedat the prison facilitythe District’'s employeesandcontractors did
nothingto evaluatePierce’s need for accommodatiatespitetheir knowledgehat he
was disabled They did not ask Pierce what type atixiliary aidshe needed. Thedid
not hire an expert to assess Pierce’s ability to communicate througknvmotes or lip
reading as opposed to sign language. yTtiel not even consuthe Departmenbof
Corrections own policies to figure out what types atcommodationare ordinaily
provided toinmateswith hearing disabilities Insteadtheyfiguratively shrugged and
effectively sat ontheir handswith respect to thiplainly hearingdisabledperson in
their custodypresumably content to rely dheir own uninformed beliefs adut how
best to handle him and certainly failing to engage in any meaningfulsassetsof his
needs This Court finds that, in so doin¢he Districtdenied Pierce meaningful access
to prisonservices and intentionally discriminated against him on trseshaf his
disability in violation of Title Il of the Americans with Disabilities AeindSection 504
of the Rehabilitation Act Thus,Pierce is entitled teummaryjudgment and
compensatory damages @taims| and Il of his complaint

With respect tdhe District’s motion for summary judgment éherce’s
retaliation claim Claim111), this Court finds that there is a genuirssueof material
factregardingwhetheror notPiercés placemenin solitary confinementvas an act of
unlawful retaliatior—Pierce ontends thaprison employeewere respondingo his

repeatedequests foan interpreter and the complaints n@d made about the prison’s



failure to provide accommodations, while the District claims that Piercesegegated
from the general psion population in order to protect him from the violent threats of
other inmates. Pierce’s retaliatichaim thus involvesa genuine dispute of fact tha
not appropriately resolved on summary judgment.

Accordingly, Pierce’s motion for summary judgment with respec€Ctaims| and
Il of the complaint will beGRANTED, andthe District’'s motion for summary
judgment as t&laims|, I, and Il will be DENIED. A separate order consistent with

this memorandum opinion will follow.

BACKGROUND
A. Basic Facts'

William Pierce is aesident of theDistrict of Columbiawho is profoundly deaf
and has otheseriousmedical conditions (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Undisputed Material Facts
(“Pl.’s Stmt. of Facts”), ECF No. 4&, §1; Compl.{ 4.) Pierce can make sounds that
are audible, but he cannot speak words, Anterican Sign Language (“ASL”) is his
native language (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Fact§{ 2, 3.} Pierce relies on ASL to
communcatewith others—eitherby interactingdirectly with other persons whare
usingASL themselvesor through the use of a video conferencing device that involves
a remote interpreter(See id 118-9.) Pierce canngtand does nqtuse a traditional
telephone instead, he ordinarily uses ASL via videophone to communicate with hearing

individuals. (See id) Moreover,becausdlierce’sproficiency in reading and writing

T Certain facts have been redacted from this Memorandum Qpimjoagreement of thgarties. These
redactions are representhdreinby the characters “[******].”

L ASL is a language comprised of hand motions, facial expressions, eys,gam body postuse (See
Pl.’s Stmt.of Facts Y4.) Although many deaf people in the United States use ASL to communicate,
ASL’s syntax and grammar are not derived from EnglisGeg(id)



English is far below that of a hearing person, he rarely writessraxtd only uses
cellphone texnhg to convey simple, short messagdgsee id {17, 9.) Also, as with
many deaf individuals, Pierce hdisnited lip-reading ability. Seeid. §110-11.)

At some point prior to February of 2012, Pierce was involved in a domestic
dispute with his thespartner, David Holderafter which Piercevas arrested and
charged withsimple assault. See id 146.) On February 1, 2012, &.C. Superior
Court Judge sentenced Pierce to 60 days ingaid committechim to the custody of
the District of Columbidepartment of Corrections (“DOC”) to serve out his sentence
in the Distrid’s Correctional Treatment Facility (“CTF.)(Seeid.; see alsdef.’s
Stmt. of FactsECF No. 50, 2.)?> Pierce waghenincarcerated at CTF from February
2, 2012 until March 22, 2012. eePl.’s Stmt. of Facts $1; Def.’s Stmt. of Facts §.)
He resided in three different unitsiring his incarceratian Medical 96 while he was in
general population, and then Medical 82 and the Special Management Unit when he was
placed into protective ctizdy. (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts $0; Def.’s Stmt. of Facts
19159-165.) Pierce was in protective custody from February 23, 2@1®arch 7,

2012. GeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts 7102, 112 Def.’s Stmt. of Facts 1164, 172.)

It is undisputed thathte District’s employees and contractosgere allfully aware
that Piercas deat (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts $9; Def.’s Controverting Stmt. of Facts
(“Def.’s Cont. Facts”), ECF No. 6% 69.) However,no prison staff membeassessed
whether or to what extentPierce would needccommodation$so ensure that he could

communicate effectively with others during his incarceratioBeefr’'g Tr., ECF No.

2The DOC is an agency of the District of Columbia that, among otfiegs$, oversees operation of the
CTF, which is a minimum and medium security correctional facilifgeePl.’s Stmt. of Fact§ 13,

17.) The DOC has contracted a private prison comp@hg Corrections Corporation of Amerigdo

run CTE (Seeid 114.)



80, at 52:3-4,53:1-12.) FurthermorePiercewas not providedvith aqualified ASL
interpreterat any point during the entire &ay periodhe spent in custody, including
the 14-day period that lRerce servedn solitary confinementike conditions.

B. Disputed Issues

The parties vigorously disagree about keand more specificallywhether—
Pierce wasactuallyable to communicateffectively with prison officials, health care
providers, teachers, and counseldtsing his incarcerationPierceclaims that he is
not skilled at reading lipghen people are speaking Englisior can he skillfuly
interpretnotes that people have written to himgnglish. GeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts
113, 5, 7, 9, 11.)Accordingly, Pierce asserts that he needs ASL interpretation in order
to communicate effectively with people who do not know ASBed id { 12.) The
District disagrees, asserting that Pierce can communicate effectivalgitten English
andthrough lip readingprimarily becausd?ierce appeared to understand what prison
officials said and wrote to hirduring his incarceratian (SeeDef.’s Cont. Factq{5, 7,
8, 9; Def.’s Stmt. of Facts Tf2-17, 28.) In the District’s view, thenexchanging
written notes and lip reading weaglequateneans of effectiveommunicaion for
Piercewhile he was in custody(SeeDef.’s Cont. Facts 18, 11,82, 90.)

The parties also disagree about wheandwhether—Pierceactually asked
prison officials, health care providers, and class instructors to anoaliee hishearing
disability by providing annterpreter to translate for him. Pierce claims that he
requested an interpreter at his initial medical intakerview, at inmate orientation, in
his rehabilitationclasses, and at all medical appointmentSeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts
1160, 88, 98.) By contrast, lhe Districtinsiststhat Pierceonly requestd a sign

language interpreter for certain sessions of his anger managemiestdnce abuse



class. (SeeDef.’s Stmt. of Facts 1Y9-21, 54, 57.) From the District’s perspective,
havingnot requested an interpreter for most of the interactionshibhad with prison
officials and othes, Pierceis not entitled to contend that the District violated the law
by failing toprovidehim with an interpretefor those interactions (SeeDef.’s Opp’n
to Pl.’s Mot. for Partial Summ. J. (“Def.’s Opp’n”), ECF No. 60, a81)3

These two issuesPierce’s ability to communicate effectivelly Englishandthe
extent to which heequestedain ASL interpreterlie at the hearof the parties’ cross
motions for summary judgment. sAexplainedfully in the analysisectionbelow, this
Court ultimately findghatthese disputed issu@seimmaterial tothe Court’s
conclusionthatPierce was subjected to disability discrimination whitewasin DOC
custody (SeePart Il1l.A.1, infra.) However, for present purposdsge parties’ opposing
views regarding Pierce’s linguistic abilities arejuests for accommodation provide
importantcontext for understandinthe parties’allegations regardingierce’sprison
experience The specific disputes of fact center on whether Piercecbatnmunication
difficulties with respecto (1) the prisonfacility’s medical intake and heal®ervices,
(2) hisinmaterehabilitationclasses(3) the protective custodprocedureghat were
employed in his casand(4) the prison’s provision ofelecommunicationspfficial
notifications, and visitation What follows is a brief summary of thparties’ conflicting

descriptions of Pierce’s custodial experience in regard to these matter

3 All citations topages in documents that the parties have fitefier tothe page numbers théte
Court’s electronic filing system assigns.



1. Pierce’sAbility To Communicate Effectivelypuring Medical
Intake And HealthProcesses

Immediately éter Piercewassentened and taken int®OC custody,he wassent
to the District’'sCentral Detention Facility for a ndécal screening and examinatioim
accordance with ordinary inmate intake procedur@&eePl.’s Stmt. of Facts %7, 88;
Def.’s Stmt. of Fact§ 18, 9.) This physicalwasconducted by medical professionals
from Unity Healthcare-a private, nofprofit entity that contracts with the District of
Columbia to provide comprehensive health care servicésmates. $eePl.’s Stmt. of
Facts 188; Def.’s Stmt. of Facts §, 9.) The parties disagree about whether Pierce
requestedor evenneededan ASL interpreteat thisinitial intake evalution and also
atthe many subsequeirtteractionsthat Piercenadwith prisonmedical professionals
order to manage hisignificant and chronic medical conditiangSeePl.’s Stmt. of
Facts 11 8790; Def.’s Stmt. of Facts 747-31.)*

According to Pierceduring theinitial intake process anat hissubsequent
medicalappointments and interventiongrisonmedical personnel simply assumed they
wereeffectively communicating witlhim through the exchange of written notes and
gesture, despite his requesbdr an ASL interpreter.(SeePl.’s Stmt. of Factg{ 88-89,
9798, 101;see alsdl.’s Resp. to Def.’s Stmt. of Facts (“Pl.’s Cont. Facts”), ECF No.
59-2, 1128-29.) For examplePierceclaims thatat theinitial intake meeting Pierce
wrote toDr. Fidelis Doh(the doctor who conducted his intake interv)ewathe needed

anASL interpreter because he had complicated health issues to explain, sutW, as H

4 Pierce has both HIV ang*****] _ (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts 87; Def.’s Stmt. of Facts §0.) There

is no dispute thatas a result of these conditiorBierce had several medical interviews, appointments,
and interventions whille was in custodat CTF. (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Factg187, 97, Def.’s Stmt. of
Facts 140.)



[******] | and new medications.SéePl.’s Stmt. of Facts $8.) Dr. Dohwrote back
that they could use written communicatiorSeg id) Pierce continued tarite that he
needed an interpreter, but the doctor did noarmge foroneto be provided. $ee id)
Instead,Dr. Doh simply turned his computer screen toward Pierce to show him the
guestions that were written thereSee id 189.) Pierce wrote t®r. Doh that he could
not understand the complicated vocabulary and medical jargon on the scredre but t
doctor wrote back that Pierce should not worry about $tee(id) Dr. Doh continued to
point at words on the scregto ask questionsrally underthe assumption that Pierce
could read lipsand towrite notes to Piercéhroughout the initial intake processSde
id. 190.)

Pierce asserts thaas a result oUnity’s failure to providehim with an ASL
interpreterat the initial intake hewas notable to communicatehe factthat, prior to his
incarceration, he had been taking five prescription medications and hatbeylaé
[******] (See id Y 92-93) Withoutthis information Unity allegedlyfailed togive
him any[******] medication(seeid.  94), and without that medication, Pierce
allegedly experienceff*****] in prison(see id § 96). Pierceconcedes that he
ultimatelyreceived treatment for this problem; howevee, claims that there wam
ASL interpreterto help him communicateith the doctors about his symptoms or
chronic condition(see id Y 97), nor was he provided with an interpreter to facilitate his
conversation with the doctor who treated Hon a different medical crisibe
subsequently experiencdsee id {1100-01 (claiming thatPierce suffered from

[******] while he was in protective custo@ndthatno interpreter was providéd



For its partthe Districtmaintainsthat Pierceneverrequested aASL interpreter
for his medical intakenterview or any of hs medical appointmenisand this wagikely
sobecausein the District’s viewno interpreter was necessargSeeDef.’s Stmt. of
Facts 1RO, 27, 31, 35, 39.)According to the DistrictDr. Dohwas able to
communicateeffectively with Pierce inwriting and specificallyreported that Pierce
could read lips.(See id 11127-28.) The District admits that Dr. Doh showed Pietbe
medical intakequestions on the computer scraambher than getting an interpreter to
translate Dr. Doh’s spoken questignaitthe Districtargues that the fact th&ierce
answeredhe questionshrough gestures and writirghows thaPierce must have
understood the questions that he read off the scresee id 130.)

The District alsocontendghat, even if Pierce did have troulldemmunicating
with Dr. Doh, Piercalid not suffer any adverse consequences as a restiiosé
alleged miscommunicationg=or examplethe District points outhatthe medical
professionals at Unity were aware of Rie’s preexisting conditions becaugtierce
signed a written release allowing Unity to obtain Pieree&dical history from former
health care providers(See id | 32-33.) Moreover,although Pierce was not
prescribed preventative medication {6t****] | Pierce did receiverescrption
[******] medicationafterhe [******]. (See id{42.) Similarly, the District notes that
although Pierce claims he was not able to communicate with his doctorstabout
[******] | the doctor was able to develop a diagis (******] ) andprescribed the
appropriatareatment [******] ). (See id {44.)

2. Pierce’'sAccess ToRehabilitativeClases

Piercewas enrolled inwo inmateprograms while at CTF: elass intended to

help him with anger management and substaimnese issuesand a class about graphic

10



design. SeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts %9; Def.’s Stmt. of Facts {5, 74.) The anger
managemenstibstance abusmurse consistedf lectures, videos, and group discussion
during six or seven class session$eePl.’s Stmt. of Facts %$5; Def.’s Stm. of Facts
156.) The graphiarts classnvolved each inmatestompletion ofcomputerbased
modules containingvritten instructions, written tests, and haras projects—
assignments that were undertaken by the inmiagisidually andat their own pace

while aCTF empoyee monitoredher progress andnade himself or herseHvailable

to answer questions and provide assistance(SeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts $6; Def.’s

Stmt of Facts § 77-78.)

The parties disagree abatlte extent to whiclPierce was able tonderstandand
benefit from these classesAccording to Pierce, in the absence of an interpreter, he
had great difficulty following theourses so much so thaguringthe first anger
management/substance abuse group sessiorPikateattendedhe allegedly became
increasingly agitatednd at one point, even walked out tife session(Pl.’s Stmt. of
Factsy 64. Pierce claims that,feer this firstsessionhewroteto the instructo that he
was frustrated because he could not understand the legttr@ut an interpreter. fee
id.) And, acording to Pierce, this was one of many requests for an interphetiehe
maderelated to his classg®ierce sayshat his partner also ask@dison officials about
securing an interpreter for Pieréar this purpose (See id .Y 63, 68.Piercealso
makes allegations regarding prison officials’ responses to tteegeests—for example,
heclaims thatin response to the entreaties his partmade on his behalfAssistant
Warden Fultoreventually contacte®allaudet University-a university for the deaf

located in Washington, D.&-to see if Gallaudet could provide an ASL interprdtar

11



Pierce (Seeid. 171.)° According to PiercewhenFultonlearned thaGallaudet
interpreters would need to Ipaid for their servicesprison officials demurredand
startedlooking for otherpotentialwaysof accommodang Pierce. (Seeid. 11 7+72.)
Pierce asserts thatltumately, the Districtneithersought,nor found arny outside
ASL interpreterfor Piercés classes(See id{ 73.) Instead nearthe end othis term of
incarceration and after sonod the sessiondiad been completed, a chaplainCTF
volunteeedto provideinterpretive services foriBrcés lastfew anger
managemensubstance abusdasses.(See id 175.) With respect to the graphics arts
course,another inmate (Justin Clarg)legedly was asketb volunteer to sign for Pierce
in approximately two or three classgeeid. 1 79); however,according to PierceClary
was not a qualified interpreterhe just happened to be severely hard of hearing and
also happened to enrolled in the classsge id 1179, 8)—andthus Clary wasnot
able tointerpreteffectively and accuratelghe written or oral statements that were
being made in the clagsee id 180).°
The Districtcontests these representations, arantains thaPierce
successfully participated in both the anger management/substance abusenpaog
the graphic artgeourse. $eeDef.’s Stmt. of Fact§68, 80.) With respect to the anger
managemensubstance abuse program, the Ddtmaintainsthat Piercewas provided
with an interpreter for albf the program sessions that took plaéeer he requested

one (Seeid. 57.) First, the District says, Assistant Warden Fulton employed Clary to

> The first names of CCA employe&avebeen omittedfrom this Memorandum Opiniofor security
and confidentiality purposes.SéePl.’s Stmt. of Facts at 6 n.1.)

5 Pierce describese alleged problemwith Clary’s skills as an interpretén this way “I had to keep
asking for clarification because | couldn’t understand what hesasing. It was not a complete
sentence.It was just words here and there scattered abttulvasn’t anything completelt wasn't a
complete thought.l could not understand him clearly."SéePl.’s Stmt. of Factg 80.)

12



attend progransessionsvith Pierce ando interpret for him. $ee idJY59-60.) Then,
afterPierce informedis counselor that Clary was not an adequate interpr@eid.

1 61), the District says thaAssistant Wardefrulton contacted Gallaudet University and
the ADA Coordinator for DOGn an effort to find an interpreter for Pierce, but
ultimately did not have to hire an interpreter becatingechaplainvolunteeredamrd
interpreted for Pierce in four classeSee id.J163-65) The District alscassertghat
Piercereceived three days of good time crefait his participation inthe anger
managemntisubstance abuse prograandthat he ultimatelyexperienced positive
behavioral changesncludinglessdrinking andan increased ability toontrol his

anger. (See id 11 68-70.)

With respect to thgraphicartsvocational programming, the District insists that
Pierce did not request an interpreter for the program tlaaithn interpreter was not
necessary for him to participate that particular program(See id 1 83-84.) In fact,
according to the DistrictRierce’s instructoreported that he was a quick learner and
hadperformed better than some thfe norhearirng impaired students enrolled in the
course. (See id 182.) The District also emphasizes tHaiterce completed six modules
of the graphic arts courssndreceived six days of good time creforr his efforts (See
id. 1180-81.)

3. The Circumstances Suwunding Pierce’s Time IRrotective
Custody

Pierce spenapproximately 25%of the total time he was in the custodytbé
DOC in solitary confinement conditionsased on hislleged request for “protective

custody”after he was assaulted by another inmakbe parties have stark

13



disagreenentaboutthe circumstances surroundiRgerces entrancento protective
custody andalsohow he was eventually released froimat status

Pierce maintains thatnoFebruary 23, 201Zewas shoved to thedbr by
anaher inmateandthat hereached outo Tutwiler, his assignedasemanagerto
complainabout the incident Tutwiler allegedlywrote anoteto Pierce askinghim if he
would like to be placed in protective custod{GeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts 102) Pierce
contendsthat he did not understamwhatprotective custodyneant orentailed he wrote
back “If necessary.” Seeid. 1102, 104) Pierce was then taken to Medical &ere
a unit managemamedPointscameto Pierce’s new cell andllegedlywrote to Pierce
that Pierce needed teandwriteout “l fear for my safety”on a fam Pointswas
providing (Seeid. 1105.) Pierce was confused by the request and initially refused,
but allegedlyat Pointss insistence, Pierce copiedatstatement ontothe form. Gee
id.)

Pierce was theplaced inprotective custodyor fourteen days.(Seeid. 11105,
112) Pierce claims thabecause there was no ASL interpreter to facilitate his
conversations witiutwiler and Points, Pierce did not understand that protective
custody mean23 hours per day of solitary confinemetiat it would last for at least
seven daysthat it was voluntaryor that there werprocedures by which he could
promptly end protective custody statuSeeid. 191103-04.) According to Pierce,dur
days aftethewas placed into protective custody, Pieadkegedlynotified Allen, the
Facilities Grievance Coordinator, thaé had not understood what protective custod
meant. See id 1107.) Pierce alsallegedlystated his belief that hisasemanager

should have discussed the meaning of protective cusiattyhim. (See id) Allen

14



allegedlyresponded in writing: “You should have redefore you signed it.”(See
id.) Pierceallegedly repliedn writing, “I had no choice because they told me to sign.”
(Seeid.)

At some point, Pierce told Griffirmnothercasemanageythat he wanted to leave
protectivecustody and return to the general populatigBee id 1108.) Griffin passed
Pierce’s regest on toother staff, and o March 1, 2012, Assistant Warden Fulton
learned that Pierce wanted leave protective custody(Seeid. 1 108, 109) Fulton
was also allegedly told th&tierce had asket have a lawyer present before signing
the waiverform that was necessary for release back into the general population, and
althoughFulton apparentlghought this was unusuaig purportedlydid notaskwhy
Piercewould not sign the form despite wanting to leave protective cust¢8ge id
1109) Instead,Pierce alleges that Fultaadvised the staff tkeepPiercein protective
custody ando review his status in onaveek. (Seeid.) Thereafteraccording to Pierce,
CTF employeesnoved Pierce to a differesegregatiorcell, this time in theSpecial
Managment Unit (“SMU”). (Seeid. 11110-111) Pierce felt that SMU was much
worse than Medical 82n SMU, Pierce was still on 2Bour lockdown but hedid not
have a roommate and could only see out of his cell throuwgthadl window in the metal
door. (Seeidf111.) Pierce was not released from SMidtil March 7, 2012.(Seeid.
1112)

The Districthas an entirely different view of the circumstances preceding
Pierce’s confinement in protage custody. First of all, according to the District,
Pointsfully explainedto Piercein writing what“protective custodymeant. See

Def.’s Cont. Facts 104.) The District claims that Poinégdsotold Pierce that, if Pierce

15



wanted to be placed in protective custody, Pierce would need to write on thetjyetec
custody request form why Pierce wanted to be placed in protective cus(8dg id

1 105.) Pierce theallegedly voluntarilywrote out on the form, “I fear for my safety.
HIV +” and signed it. (See id) Thus, theDistrict maintainsghat Points did not require
Pierceto write on the form at all, much less make anyspecificstatement (See id)

The District also claims that, once Pierce filled out the protective cystod
request form, Assitant Warden Fultowas prohibited fronmremoving Pierce from
protective custodgtatusuntil Pierce signed a protective custody waiver indicating that
Pierce no longer feared for his safetyseg id 1109.) According to the District, Pierce
knew that heneeded to sign the waiver if he wanted to be removed from protective
custody, but Pierce refused to sign the waiver form anyw&ge (d) Moreover, the
District claims thatper CTF policy, inmates in protective custody are subject to review
every seva days andhusFulton’s direction to the staff to review Pierce’s status in
seven days was in accordance with facility polic$ed id) The Districtalsocontends
that Pierce was confined under the same conditions in both Medical 82 and thal Spec
Management Unit. $eeid. 1111.)

4, Deaflnmates’ Righs$ To TelecommunicationsOfficial
Notifications, And Visitation

Finally, and mt surprisingly, the parties tell completely different stories
regardingcertainprivileges that inmates ordinariigceive & CTF and the extent to
which deaf inmates such as Pieraee affordedequalaccess to them.

For example, according to Pierce, hearing inmates in the general populatio
the prison’s medical unitaveaccesdo telephones seven days a wealkepermitted to

use the telephone fdrO minutesat a time,anddo not need to requegtermission in

16



advance to use the telephongSeePl.’s Stmt. of Fact§ 114.) Pierce, on the other
hand, allegedly had much more limited access to telecommunications, gaerfiram

the fact thatCTF provides deaf inmates witAnoutmodedTTY deviceinstead of a
modern videophoné Pierce claims that his access to the TTY device varied depending
on where he was housé&causein order forhim to place a callPOC officials

required him tamakeanappointment in advance to use the TTY, which was available
only in his case manager’s office(See id 1115, 124) Moreover,according to

Pierce prison officials demanded the presencensfcase manager @mother CTF
employes while he was usinghe TTY device (See id 1124.) Pierce alleges thatih
case manager’s hours were typicabiyly Monday through Fridayrom 8:00 a.m. to

5:00 p.m, which substantiallyestriced his TTY usage windowand everwhen his

case managewras on dutysheallegedlywould only grantPierce’s request® use the
TTY machine at her conveniend&ee id 1 124-25.) Piercealso alleges thdtis calls
were strictly limitedto 10 minuteseven though communicating using a TO¥gvice

takes substantially more time than communicating using a teleph@e= id 1126)8

T"ATTY consists of a keyboardlisplay screen, and telephor(&eePl.’s Stmt. of Fact§ 116.) Typed
message$rom each partyare sent over the telephone lines and appear on the screen of these#her (
id. 1116), and thus dth paties must have a TTY to have a direct conversafsae id 118). Indirect
conversations are also possible, if the telephone company providessezhdges which involve
communicatinghrough the asistance of a thirgarty telephon®perator who reads aloud words typed
by the deaf party and types otlite spokemresponse®f thehearing person (See id 1117) Two deaf
individuals cannot communicate via TTY unless both parties havEYadevice and can type in
English effectively. $ee id 1118).

Pierce avers that, like many other deaf individuais,uses a videophone in the outside wo(Bkeid.
18.) A videophone uses higépeed internet to enable ret@éine video communication so that deaf
individuals can communicate with one another in ASSedid. 157). Videophones also enable
communicaion between deaf and hearing individuals through the use of a viday setvice (“VRS").
VRS is a system by which a deaf individual signs via video monida remote sign language
interpreter, and the interpreter communicates the deaf person’s messtigehearing individual in
spoken English and vice versaSee id 158.) VRS is free to all users and has been widely available
since at least the mid000s. See id 159.)

8In this same vein, Pierce contends thaaring inmates who were in protective custodyhie Medical
82 unit and the SMUgould ask to have a telephone brought to their cell during the day by asking the
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In response to Piercge’accusations regarding his unequal access to
telecommunications, the District maintains tiPa¢rcewas provided access to the TTY
device wherhe requested itsgeDef.’s Stmt. of Facts  110), and tHe did not
request use of a videophone while at CTd= { 22). Furthermore, the District contends
that the TTY device must be kept in the case manager’s office “for sgceasons”

(id. ¥ 112), and that thpracticaldifferences between using a TTY deviaed using a
telephone justifythe different access policies that apply to hearing and heatisgbled
inmates. Hee, e.qg.id. 1 115 (“The TTY device cannot be left unsecured in the housing
unit, where it could pose a security risk or become contraband.”; 116 (“CTF staff
must be present during TTY calls, which are not subject to security maorgtand
recording liketheregular inmate telephones.”).)

Pierce allegeshat inequitiesalsoexist with respecto both the visitation
processes thareafforded to deaf inmates at CEfAdthe official notification
announcementthat CTF staff make Regardingvisitation, Pierce @ims that he was
handcuffed during at least one visit from his partner and his moskeeP(.’'s Stmt. of
Facts Y137), which isproblematicbecause Pierceommunicates with his mother using
ASL and needs to havas handdreein order to speakThe Distict responds that
Pierce did not request any accommodations with respect to visitation indieas at
CTF (seeDef.’s Stmt. of Facts 150), and that it is standard CTF policy that all

inmates in protective custody be restrained when they are outside ¢fisir (See id

officer on the unit. $ee id 1127.) By contrast, éaf and hard of hearing inmates hadequest to use

a TTY in the case manager’s office, which allegedly involved wgitinrequest to use a TTY in the
office and giving it to an officer during that officer’s daily walkough. Gee id 1 128,131.) If the
request was granted, the inmateuld be brought to the office in handcuffs and would be permitted to
use the TTYdevice still in handcuffs. $ee id)
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1 139.) Thus, the District claims that it was merely following policy when Riemas
restrained during a visit with his mother and Holde®e€ id 1 148.) The District also
points out(and Pierce concedgthat an exception was rdain Pierce’s caseandthat
his handcuffs wee removed once Pierce’s mothexplained the problem to CTF
authorities.

Pierce’sallegedconcern aboubfficial notificationsremainedunresolved
however. Pierce asserts that, because there was no visual alarm to alert him to
announcements or to notify him of an emergency lockdown, fire, or other entgrge
when his cell doowas closedhe was constantly anxious and worried about missing
importantinformation. (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Fact§Y134-135.) The District contends
that Pierce’s anxiety was unfounded, because &acising unit at CTF has alarms in
the hallways consisting of a very loud alarm and strobe ligtdsare visible from
inside each of thedlls, includingthe cells that Pierceccupied during his incarceration
at CTF. (Def.’s Stmt. of Facts 1923-24.) Furthermore, \th respect to Pierce’s claim
that he was not provided access to a visual alarm for other notificatfe®jistrict
claims thatCTF does not use a loud speaker or other type of auditory system for
making notifications or announcements to inmgtee id 1129), and thatjnstead,
written notifications and announcements are posted on the bulletin boards in the
housing unitswhich are accessible to all inmates when they are out of their ceflse (

id. 1127)

9 According to Defendants, this policy applies to alldtsts inmates,” a category that includes inmates
in protective custody, administrative segregation, and distapli segregation. SeeDef.’'s Stmt. of
Facts 1140.)
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C. Procedural History

On February 1, 2013-exactly one year after Pierce was first committed to the
custody of the DOE-Pierce filed the instant thremount complaintgairst the District
(SeeCompl., ECF No. 1.)Claims landll of Pierce’s complainallege that the District
“intentionally” discriminated against Pierce in violation of Title Il of the ARnd
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act “by failing to provillle. Pierce adequate access
to a qualified ASL interpreter, telecommunications devices, visual aJgdrarsd
visitation.” (Id. 149 (Claim I, Title 1l of the ADA);id. 150 (Claim II, Section 504 of
the Rehabilitation Act).)In Claim Ill, Pierce allegeshatthe District also violated the
ADA and the Rehabilitation Act by “retailat[ing] against [him] for ags®g his rights”
under those statutesSdée id 151.) After the parties engaged in discovery and
attempted to resolve the case through mediats@eQrder Referring Case for
Mediation, ECF No. 40)Rierce filed a motion for summary judgment alaims |
and Il of hiscomplaint 6eePl.’s Mot. for Partial Summ. J. as to Claims | and Il of the
Compl., ECF No. 47).

Pierce argues that he is entdleo summary judgmerdn Claims | and llbecause
the District violated Title Il and Section 504 by (1) failing to pravidierce with a
gualified ASL interpreter for his rehabilitation classes, medical tneat, and the
grievance processé€ePl.’s Mem. n Supp. of Pl.’s Mot (“Pl.’"Mot.”), ECF No. 482 at
18-32); (2) providing a TTY machine to Pierce to make phone calls rather than a
videophone and limiting the times at which and duration for which Pierce coldd ma
phone callsgee id at 32-35); (3) notproviding a visual or tactile alarm to Pierce for
both routine and emergency notificatiorse¢ id at 35-36); and(4) handcuffing Pierce

during a visit with his mother and partneseg id at 36). Pierceasserts that heid not
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move for summary judgment with respectGtaim Ill of hiscomplaint because there is
a material factual dispute regarding whethemwas placed in protective custody
because heequestechccommodations for his disabilitSeePl.’s Mem. inOppn to
Def.’s Mot. (“Pl.’s Opp’ri), ECF No. 591, at 45-48.)

The Districthasnot only opposeé Pierce’s motiorfor summary judgmengsee
Def.’s Opp’n to Pl.’s Mot. (“Def.’s Opp’n”), ECF No. 60jt hasalsofiled one ofits
own (seeDef.’s Mot. for Summ. J. (“Def.’s Mot.”), ECF No. 49)The Districtcontends
that it is entitled to summary judgmeon Claims | and llbecausgein the District’s
view, the only accommodations that Pierce requested during his time at CTFRawere
interpreter for his anger managentisubstance abuse class, the use of a TTY device,
and to be urcuffed during his visit with his mother and partreaccommodations that
the Districtsaysit readily provided. GeeDef.’s Mot. at 7~16.) To the extent that
Pierce argues that the Distridiauld have accommodated him by providingA®L
interpreter at other times, the Distrimdntendshat itcannot be held liable fats
failure to provide accommodations that were not request8ée {d at 5, 6, 16, 21.)
The District also argues that it is entitled to summary judgmerRierces retaliation
claim (Claim Ill) becausein the District’s viewthe prison stafflid not takeany
adverse action against Pierce as a result of his requests for aodatom. Geeid. at
17-18.)

This Court held a hearing on the parties’ crasetions for summary judgment

on April 23, 2015. $eeMinute Entry for Proceedings dated Apr. 23, 2015.)
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1. LEGAL STANDARD S
A. Motions for Summary Judgment Under Rule 56

The parties’ cresmotions for summary judgment comgéis Court to undertake
“the threshold inquiry of determining whether there is a need fotwdlether, in
other words, there are any genuiiaetualissues that properly can be resolved only by a
finder of fact becausthey may reasonably be resolved in favor of either party.”
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 250 (19863ge alsd~ed.R. Civ. P.
56(c). The party seeking summary judgment bears the “initial resptitysitfi
informing the district court ofhe basis for its motion, and identifying those portions of
the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions, cogdther
with the affidavits, if any, which it believes demonstrate the abseheegenuine issue
of material fact’ Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986) (internal
guotation marks omitted)Moreover, such “evidence is to be viewed in the light most
favorable to the nonmoving party and the court must draw all reasonable icderign
favor of the nonmomg party’ Talavera v. Shah638 F.3d 303, 308 (D.C. Cir. 2011).
This is because[t]redibility determinations, the weighing of the evidence, and the
drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, nstetiod a
judgel.]” Liberty Ldoby, Inc, 477 U.S. at 255see alscCelotex Corp.477 U.S. aB30
n.2 (‘If .. .there is any evidence in the record from any source from which a
reasonable iference in the [nonmoving party’s] favor may be drawn, the moving party
simply cannot obtain aummary judgment]” (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted)).

That being saidthe mere existence of a factual dispute, by itself, is not

sufficient to bar summary judgmengee Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S.at 255. The
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contestedact must beanaterial andhe dispute must bgenuine A fact isonly material
if it could establish an element of a claim or defense and, theréforght affect the
outcome of the suit under the governing [dW See id at 248;see alsdCelotex 477
U.S. at 32223 (noting that where a nonmoving party “fails to make a showing
sufficient to establish an element essential to that party’s case . . . thelbe can
genuine issue as to any material fact, since a complete failure of psaoérning an
essential elemerdf the nonmoving party’s case necessarily renders all other facts
immaterial” (internal quotation marks and citations omitted))kewise, a dispute is
only genuine if the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to require submission
to a jury” Liberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 25452; see also idat 249 (If the evidence is
merely colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary judgment Ineagranted.
(citations omitted).)

Where—as here-the parties file crossnotions for summary judgment, “each
must carry its own burden under the applicable legal standd&triman v. United
States 429 F.Supp.2d 61, 67 (D.D.C2006) Accordingly,“[c]rossmotions for
summaryjudgment are treated separngfg” Act Now to op War & End Racism Coal.
v. District of Columbia905 F. Supp. 2d 317, 327 (D.D.C. 20,18\)ch that [a] cross
motion for summary judgment does not concede the factsairasns of the opposing
motion[,]” CElI Washington Bureau, Inc. Dept of Justice 469 F.3d 126, 129 (D.C.
Cir. 2006). Indeed, Heither party waives the right to a full trial on the merits by filing
its own motion; each side concedidst no material facts are at issue only fioe t
purposes of its own motiori.” SeeSherwood v. Washington Po8{71 F.2d 1144, 1147

n.4 (D.C.Cir. 1989)(quotingMcKenzie v. Sawye684 F.2d 62, 68 8.(D.C.Cir. 1982)
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abrogated on other grounds lBerger v. Iron Workers Reinforced Rodmé&i0 F.3d
1111 (D.C. Cir. 1999)

B. Section 504 ofthe Rehabilitation Act & Title Il of the ADA

Pierce has filed the instant lawsuit undsrction 504 of the Rehabilitation Act
and Title Il of the ADA. Congress enact8eaction 504 of the Rehabilitation Act
(“Section 504”) and its companion legislationt/€ill of the ADA (“Title 11") in 1973
and 1990, respectivelyn order to addresthe “lengthy and tragic history of
segregation and discrimiriah” that people with disabilitiebave faced irthe United
States City of Cleburne, Tex. v. Cleburne Livilr., 473 U.S. 432, 461 (1985)
(Marshall,J. concurring in part and dissenting in padge alsdStatement of
Representative Vanik, 117 Congec. 45974 (1971) (denouncinlge disregard for the
rights of handicapped citizens in our country as a “shameful oversigdmf'noting
that handicapped people are “often shunted aside, hidden and ignored”); Stabément
Senator Humphrey, 118 ConBec. 525 (1972) (stating that “[t]he time has come when
we can no longer tolerate the invisibility of the handicappedmerica”). Section 504
and Title Il resulted from years @lublic protests, marches, acts of civil disobedience,
and court filingsin the 1960s and 1978sactivitiesthat were part of a movemeaimed
at securing for disabled people the same rights aiillgggesafforded to ableébodied
people. SeeRobert L. Burgdorf Jr.The Americans with Disabilities Act: Analysis and
Implications of A Secon@Generation Civil Rights Statut@6 Harv. C.R:C.L. L. Rev.
413, 426(1991). Participants in this civil riglt movement insistethatsociety
recognize disablegeoplenot as “infortunate, afflicted creatures” but as “equal

citizens, individually varying across the spectrum of human abilities, whosermieg
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needs are freedom from discrimination and a faimcleato participate fully in society.”
Id. at 426-27.

With respect to th@rograms, services, and activitigsat areprovided by, or
funded through, government entitjgSongress responded kyacting legislatiorito
provide a clear and comprehensivational mandate for the elimination of
discrimination against individuals with disabilitiess avell as“strong, consistent,
enforceable standards addressing discrimination agaidstiduals with disabilities.”
42 U.S.C. 812101(b)(1}2) (2012} see &s029 U.S.C. §701(a)(5)(2012)
(acknowledging thatindividuals with disabilities continually encounter various forms
of discrimination in. . . critical areas” of lifg¢. To this end, Section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Actspecificallystatesthat “[n]o otherwise qualified individual with a
disability in the United States . . . shall, solely by reason of her orisabidity, be
excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to
discrimination under any program or activitgceiving Federal financial assistapgeé
29 U.S.C. § 794(a) Similarly, Title Il of the ADA provides that “no qualified
individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be exalufilem
participation in or be denied the benefits of Hegvices, programs, or activities of a
public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such entity.” 2@, §

1213210

0 Notably, the D.C. Circuit has long held that the tfdins and defenses under [Section 504 and Title
1] are virtually identical,”"Harrison v. Rubin 174 F.3d 249, 253D.C. Cir. 1999), andhat“cases
interpreting either [statute] are applicable and interchangeabl&fr]’ Council of the Blind v. Paulspn
525 F.3d 1256, 1260 n.2 (D.C. Cir. 2008)here areonly two material differencebetween the two
provisions First, the Rehabilitation Act only applies tederal agencies and departments, federal
programs, and recipients of federal fundimghereas the ADA applies to all entities that provide
services to the publicSeePaul V. Sullivan, NoteThe Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990: An
Analysis of Title Il and Applicable Case La®@9 Suffolk U. L. Rev. 1117, 1120 (1995%econdthe
statutes have differemtausation requirementSection 504 of the Rehabilitation Act provides that “[n]o
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Significantly for present purposebgecause Congress was concertleat
“[d]iscrimination against the handicapped was most often the product, not of
invidious animus, but rather of thoughtlessness and indifferetoédenign neglect[,]”
Alexander v. Choatet69 U.S. 287, 29%1985) the expresgrohibitions against
disability-based discrimination in Section 504 and Titleni¢ludean affirmative
obligationto make benefits, services, and programs accessible to disabled p&bple.
is, an entity that provides services to the pubbtiannot stand idly by while people with
disabilities attempt to utze programs andervices designed for the abbedied,;
instead to satisfySection 504 and Title II, such entitiesayvery wellneed toact
affirmatively tomodify, supplement, or tailor their prograrand services to make them
accesible to persons with disabilitiesSee42 U.S.C. 812131(2) (requiring entitiethat
provide services to the publto (1) make “reasonable modifications to rules, policies,
or practices”; (2) “remov[e] . . . architectural, communication, or transpjorna
barriers”; and (3) “provi[e] auxiliary aids and servicesb as to enable disabled
persons to participate in programs or activities). Moreoverseémodificatiors—called
“accommodatior” in Section 504and Title Il parlance—must be sufficient to provide a
disabled person with an “equal opportunity to obtain the same result, to gaianilee s
benefit, or to reach the same level of achievement” as a person who is aoledis

Alexander 469 U.S.at 305 (quoting regulations implementing Section 5@dternal

otherwise qualified individual with a disability ineéhUnited States. . shall,solely by reason of her or
his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, oulijected to
discrimination under any program or activity receigiFederal financial assistance..” 29 U.S.C. §
794(a) (emphasis addedBy contrast, under Title Il of the ADA, “discrimination need net the sole
reason” for the exclusion of or denial of benefits to the plaint§bledad v. U.S. Dépof Treasury

304 F.3d 500, 50304 (5th Cir. 2002)see alsdAlston v. District of Columbia770 F. Supp. 2d 289, 298
(D.D.C. 2011) Neither of these differences are relevant to the claims in this case.
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guotation marks omittefl)see alsa28 C.F.R. 835.130(b)(1)(ii) (2014)stating that a
public entity discriminates in violation of Title it qualified individuak with
disabilites are giveran“opportunity to participate in or benefit from the aid, benefit,

or service that is not equal to that afforded others”).

1. ANALYSIS

As explained fullybelow, ths Court will grant Pierce’s motion for summary
judgmentwith respecto his Section 504 and Té Il discriminationclaims Claims |
andll of hiscomplain) andwill deny theDistrict’'s motion for summary judgment in its
entirety The Court reaches this conclusion becaud$mds that the Districtviolated
Section 504and Title Il as a matter daw when it failed to evaluatPierce’sneedfor
accommodatiorat thetime he was taken into custodyThis legalconclusion is entirely
independent othe hotly disputedssuesregarding whether or not Pierce was, in fact,
able to communicate effectively with prison officialsydwhether or not Pierce did, in
fact, requestain ASL interpreter for his interactiomghile in custody; howevers
discussed below, the Court finds tho reasonable jury coulagree with the District
on these issuesnd thusthe District violatedSection 504 and Title Ibn this basisas
well.) The Court also finds thabecauséhe District’s failure to evaluate Pierce’s
needs amounted to deliberate indifferenc®terce’s rights and the District’s
obligations under Section 504 and Title thhe Districts conductconstitutel intentional
discrimination andthus,Pierceis entitledto compensatory damages for the ménta
emotional and physicainjuries he sustainedHowever, wth respect to Pierce’s

retaliation claim the Courtconcludeghatthere are genuine issues of material fact that
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still need to be resolved; consequentlye District’'s motion fosummary judgment on
the retaliation clainmust be denied
A. The District Intentionally And Unlawfully Discriminated Against
Pierce When It Eschewed Its DutyTo Assess His Need For

Accommodation And Denied Him Meaningful Access To Prison
Programs And Services

To establisidisability-based discrimination under Section 5&4d Title Il, a
plaintiff mustprove (1) that he is a qualified individuatith a disability; (2) that he is
being excluded from participation in, or is being denied benefits, s&syprograms, or
other activities for which a public entity is responsible, or is otherwisegbe
discriminated against by the public entity; and (3) that such exalusgienial of
benefits, or discrimination is by reason of his disabili8eeCleveland v. Policy Mgmt.
Sys. Corp.526 U.S. 795, 8061099);Alston v. District of Columbia561 F. Supp. 2d
29, 37 (D.D.C. 2008).0nly the secon@&lementis at issue here, becaugee District
does notdenythat Pierce is a qualified individual with a disabiligr that theDOC is a
public entity. (SeeDef.’s Opp’n at §; see alsdPa. Dep’t of Corr. v. Yeskeyp24 U.S.
206, 210 (1998jholding thata disabledinmatecan state a claimnder Title Il if, by
reason of his disabilityhe is deniegarticipation in an activity provided in state

prison).t

L Under Title Il of the ADA and Section 504f the Rehabilitation Agtan individual has a disability
he or she “[has] a physicar mental impairment that substantially limits one orrenmajor life
activities of suchindividual” 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(Af2012}) see alsad29 U.S.C. § 70540) (2012).
Hearing is a “major life activity,” and deafness is clearly established asahility. 42 U.S.C.

8§ 12102(2)(A)(hearing is a “major life activity” pursuant to the ADA); 29 UCS § 705(20)(B)
(definition of “individual with a disability” pursuanta the Rehabilitatio Act includes those who have
a disability pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 12102ge also Ball v. AMC Entm’t, Inc246 F. Supp2d 17,20
(D.D.C. 2003) (deafness is a disability recognized by the ADRyrthermore, the ADA defines a
public entity as “any State or local government” or “any department, agesmscial purpose district,
or other instrumentality of the Sebr States or local government[,]” 42 U.S.C. § 121314hy
prisoners “have the same interest in access to the program#ese and activities available to the
other inmates of their prison as disabled people on the outside have ¢ouheerpart programs,
services, and activities available to free peopleGtawford v. Indiana Deg’ of Corr.,, 115 F.3d 481,
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With respect to thguestion ofwhether or not Pierce waxcluded from
participation in, or deniethe benefitsof, prisonservicesby reason of his disabilityn
violation of Section 504 and Title,Iboth parties maintain that they are entitled to
summary judgmentn the record hereggnd as discussed above, thewvehighlighted as
“material certainfacts that areprimarily related to Pierce’allegedneed foran ASL
interpreterand other accommodationandthe circumstances under whi€hercemay
or may not haveequestedhoseaccommodatios. (See, e.qg.Pl.’s Mot. at 26 (“Without
a qualified interpreter in any of his graphics arts classes, and widltoutterpreter in
all but his last three or four ger management/substance abuse classes, Mr. Pierce was
clearly denied meaningful access to these programs and was unable to dgrofelan
benefits from them.”); Def.’s Opp’n at 11 (“Pierce did not requestaerpreter for his
medical intake and appaiments, [and] his providers were able to communicate with
him in writing.”).) However,there isanundisputed thresholthct that in this Court’s
view, so clearly estadbshesintentional discriminationn violation of Section 504 and
Title Il thatsummay judgment must be issued in Pierce’s fanotwithstanding the
factual disputes over Pierce’s actual requests and naédsDistricttook Pierce—an
obviously disabled inmateinto custody without undertakingny ex anteevaluation of
hisaccommodationaquirementsand when he lateequesed aid, either rebuffed his
inquiries entirely omprovided him with whatever auxiliary tools it had on hand. As
explained below, this Couhtoldsthat thefailure of prison staffto conduct annformed

assessmerndf theabilities andaccommodation needs ofn@winmate who is obviously

486 (7th Cir.1997)abrogatedon other grounds by Erickson v. Bd. of Governors of State Colleges &
Universities for Ne. Illinois Uniy.207 F.3d 945 (7th Cir. 2000)
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disabledis intentional discrimination in the form afeliberate indifference amndolates
Section 504 and Titl#l as a matter of law.Moreover, the Court concludeéBateven if
the District B correctto conterd thatthe Section 504 and Title lduty toprovide
accommodations for disabled inmates is triggered dntlye inmaterequestsand
ultimatelyneeds accommodatipno reasonable jury could find that Pierce failed to
requestan ASL interpreter, or that he could communicate effectively without one
the record presented here

1. The DistrictHad An Affirmative Duty To EvaluatePierce’s

Accommodation Requirements, And lts Failure To Do So
Constituted Disability Discriminatios A Matter Of Law

It is clear beyond cavil thahe core principlehat underlis the protections of
Section 504and Title Il is equal accessAs explained aboveCongresshas required
entities toprovidereasonable accommodatiotieat would permidisabled individuals
to acces programs and services addition toprohibitingdiscriminatory animussee
Alexander v. Choate469 U.S. 287, 295 (1985andthe regulatory scheme that
undergirdsthe antidiscrimination statuteseinforces tis reasonableaccommodations
mandate Thus, without regard to whethpersors with disabilities who seek the
benefit of public services havequestecaccommodationa public entitythat is covered
by Title Il must “operate each service, program, or activity so thestrvice, program,
or activity, when viewed in its emety, is readily accessible @nd usable by, people
with disabilitieg,]” 28 C.F.R. § 35.1502014), andto satisfySection 504, recipients of
federal funding “shall provide appropriate auxiliaais to qualified handicapped
persons with impaired sensory, manual, or speaking skills where alr&dusake such
provision would discriminatorily impair or exclude the participation of suatsqmes in

a program or activities receiving Federal finan@asistancg]” 28 C.F.R. 82.503(f)
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GivenCongress’s unmistakable intent to creatéear, strong, consistent, [and]
enforceable standards addressing discrimination against individuals watiildies” in
various aspects of kf 42 U.S.C. § 12101(l2), andalsoits recognition that “benign
neglect” is aparticularlypernicious form of disability discriminatio®lexandey 469
U.S. at295,the District’s insstencehere thatprison officialshave no legal obligation
to provideaccommodation$or disabled inmats unlesstheinmatespecifically request
such aid—andeven thenonly if it actuallyturns out that the inmateally needsthe
requested accommodatiesis untenableand cannot be countenancelirst of all,
nothing in thedisability discrimination statutesven remotely suggests thaivered
entities have the option of being passimgheir approach to disaldandividualsas far
as theprovision of accommodations is concerned. Quite to the contrary, as exgplaine
above, Section 504nd Title Il mandate that entities aaffirmativelyto evaluate the
programs and servicabey offer ando ensure thapeople with disabilities will have
meaningful access to those servic&ee, e.g42 U.S.C. §812131(2);28 C.F.R. §
35.15(@a); 28 C.ER. 835.150. This affirmative dutyis seeminglyat itsapexin the
context of a prison facilityin light of the unevenpower dynamidetween prison
officials and inmateshatinherently and appropriatelgxists andalsothe fact that
departmerg of corrections hae complete control over wheth@risoninmates(disabled
or not) receiveany programsor servicesat all. Cf. Brown v. Plata 131 S. Ct. 1910,
1928 (2011) éxplainingthat “to incarcerate, society takes from prisoners the means to
provide for their own needs” anhusprisons must provide for prisonergstelle v.
Gamble 429 U.S. 97, 104 (1976) (referring to “the comnlaw view that ‘it is but just

that the public be required to care for the prisoner, who cannot by reason of the
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depiivation of his liberty, care for himself’”) (quotin§picer v. Williamsonl132 S.E.
291, 293 N.C. 1926). Put another way, given th&ection 504 and Title Il requirall
entities thatrovide public servicego act affirmatively toensure that disabled
individuals have meaningful accegmisonsseemingly have evemoreresponsibility in
this regard, because inmatescessarilyely totally uponcorrections departmentsr
all of their needs while in custody and do not have the freedom to obtain sucheservic
(or the accommodations that permit them to access those serviceshelsew

What is morethe District’s suggestiorthat a prison facilityneed nofact to
accommodad an obviouslydisablal inmateif the inmatedoes not askor
accommodationgseeDef.’s Mot. at 5)is truly baffling as anatter of law and logic.
The Districtdoes not explaitmow inmates withknown communicationgelated
difficulties (such as Pierceggre supposed to communicaeeedior accommodations
or, for that matterwhy the protections of Section 504 and Title Il should be construed
to be unavailable to such disabled persons unlesssgbmghowmanage to overcome
their communicationselated disabilitysufficiently enough to convey their need for
accommodationgffectively. Theimplications of the District’s analysi@retroubling,
and they sweep broadlyby the District’sreasoningjt would appear thadnly a
specificrequest for a wheelchair would triggemyeduty to accommodate an inmate who
cannot walk, and a blind inmate would need to make a specifiestdora caneor a
guideif he desiredto move about the prison groundsmeanwhile prison officials could
sit idly by, taking no affirmative steps to accomaade such disabled prisoners and
expecting to be able twield theinmate’sfailure to requestaccommodatioriike some

sort of talismarthatwards off Section 504 and Title lliability in any future legal
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action This imagined state of affairs isnquesitonably inconsistent with the text and
purpose othe Rehabilitation Act and the ADAvhich means thathe District must now
face a stark realityno matter howfervently it holds the belief tha public entiy’s

duty to provide accommodations arises only by requéstre is eitherlegal nor logical
support forthat proposition.

To be surethere are times in which courts have held thatisabled persomust
request accommodatiorSee e.g, Flemmings v. Hoard Univ, 198 F.3d 857, 858
861-62 (D.C. Cir. 1999)(holdingthat an employer did not violatn employee’s rights
underTitle | of the ADA by failing to accommodate employee’s vertigdated
disabilities because employee failed to request an accommajlaBut it is equally
clear thatthe legal significance of the request requiremenmisrely to put the entity on
noticethat the person is disabled does not servasa means of shifting the burdesf
initiating the accommodations processthe disabled individualSeePaulone v. City
of Frederick 787 F. Supp. 2d 360, 4034 (D. Md. 2011)explaining that thé‘request
requirement’ . . . is a function of the fact that ‘a person’s disability andaoitant
need for accommodation are radtvays known . . until the [person] regests an
accommodatiofi) (quotingKiman v. NH. Dep’t of Corr, 451 F.3d 274, 283 (1st Cir.
2006) (internal quotation marks omitted) In other words, ie requesperformsa
signaling functior—i.e., it alerts thepublic entity to the disabled person’s need for an
accommodatior-andwhere, as herdghe inmate’s disability is obviousnd indisputably
known to the provider of servicego request is necessareeRobertson v. Las
Animas Cnty. Sheriff's Dep’600 F.3d 1185, 11988 (10th Cir. 2007) (“[A] public

entity is on notice that an individual needs an accommodation when it knowanthat
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individual requires one, either because that need is obvious or because Wuialdi
requests an accommodation.Duvall v. Cnty. of Kitsap260 F.3d 1124, 1139 (9th Cir.
2001) (“When the plaintiff has alerted the public entity to his need for accodation
(or where the need for accommodation is obvious, or required by statute ortregula
the public entity is on noticehat an accommodation is required..”).

Thesecond overarching reason thiae District’s legal position isintenablas
that byreading theantidiscrimination statutes as mandatith@t public entities provide
neededaccommodations butot asrequiringthoseentitiesto take anyaffirmative steps
to ascertainwhat accommodations might be need#te District suggests that Section
504 and Title Il permit reliance on guesswork and happenstaitbeespect tdhe
provision of accommodationsvhenthe law clearly requires otherwisét is well-
establishedalbeit in the employment context)atit violates the ADA if an employer
with a duty to provide reasonable accommodations resptinthe known disabled
condition of an employee byiving thatemployeewhatever aids themployeralone
thinks might do the trickwithout any actualassessment of themployee’sindividual
condition or need& consultation withthe employee Seeg e.g, Taylor v. Phoenixville
Sch. Dist, 184 F.3d 296, 315 (3d Cit999 (reversing grant of summary judgment to
employer becauseotwithstanding fact that employees®n “requested accommodations
[for plaintiff], informed [the employer] about [employee’s] condition, and provided [the
employer] with the means to obtain more information if neg¢déémployer “offered
no accommodations or assistance in finding them, maaployee’$ job more
difficult, and simply sat back and continued to document her failures”). To the

contrary, “[o]Jnce an employer is aware of its responsibility to provideaaamable
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accommodation .. it must ‘identify the precise limitations resulting from the disability
and potential reasonable accommodations,’ which is best done through an ‘informal,
interactive process’ that involves both the eaydr and the employee with a

disability.” McNair v. District of Columbiall F. Supp. 3d 10, 16 (D.D.C. 2014)
(quoting29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(0)(3)

This apparently comes as no news to the Distrttte DOC’'s own regulations
mandate something of an interactive proce#f wespect to accommodations insofar as
theyspecifically direct prison officials tgive preferencdo the requests odisabled
inmatesregarding theauxiliary aids to be provided(SeeD.C. Dep’t of Corr.,Program
Statement 3800,Fx. 9 to Rocap Decl., ECF No. 48 at 92,8 12(a)(2) see alsad.

8 12(b)(2) (stating that the “DOC shall honor the [inmate’s] expressedt€hoi
regarding accommodationsiless,nter alia, “it can show that another equally effective
means of communication esvailable”)) Neverthelessthe Districthere resists the
conclusion thathelaw requirel CTF’'s employees and contractdostakeaffirmative
stepsup frontto evaluate Pierce’s needsorderto identify which accommodations
would be appropriate for him. Instead, by insisting that the accommodatioosgsr
that was employed in the instant case is consistent with Section 504 aadl Tikle
District suggests that the law permits corrections staff to treat the raalgon
accommodations mandate muchelik game of chanee.e., on the one hand, prison
staff can play it safe by undertaking an ex ante assessment of the metdal of a
disabled inmate in their custody, or on the other, they can opt to forgo that exp®ids
if accommodations are requedigrovide a hodgepodge wfatever aids are in the

prison’s possession, thereby betting either that the inmate will remain silent or that he
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ultimately will be found to have needed no more than the auxiliary aids t@at th
correctiors facility randomly preided. There will, of course, be times when
corrections staff will take that bet and get it rigl@f. Charles Clay Doyle et al.,
Dictionary of Modern Proverb&87 (2012)(noting thateven a broken clock gets the
time right twice a day).But to the extent that the District contends that Section 504 and
Title Il permit public entities tengage irthis sort of gamblevith respect tdhe
accommodation needs of disabled individuals whom they are required to sebve, it i
sorely mistaken.See42 U.S.C. § 12131(2keealso28 C.F.R. §835.160(b)(2)
(indicating that a public entity has a duty“tetermine] what types of auxiliary aids
and services are necessarfdr the disabled individuals it serves

The bottom line is thisthis Court sqarely rejects the legal position that the
District seeks to advance in this action, which is, in essencetited@OC acts
consistently with Section 504 and Title Il when it takes custodgnobbviously
disabled prisonewithout undertakingany evaluaton of thatinmates need andthe
accommodations that will be necessary to ensure that he or she has maamicgts
to prison servicesandinstead provides a random assortment of auxiliary aidgon
request andit varioustimes based primarily on considerations of its own conveniéhce
Quite to the contrary, based on its readindeaferal law this Court holds thaprison
officials have an affirmative duty to assess the potential accommaodia¢ieds of

inmateswith knowndisabilities who are taken into custody and to proioe

2with respect to hearingdisabled inmates in particular, it appears that therisof Columbia’'s DOC
is not the only prison system that engages in Hug ofpractice. See, e.g.Matt ZapotoskyJustice
Dept. Looking into Treatment of Deaf Inmates in Arlington Jalashington Post, July 29, 2015,
available athttp://www.washingtonpost.com/local/crime/justideptlooking-into-treatmentof-deaf
inmatesin-arlingtonjail/2015/07/29/ae91041360a11e5b6731df005a0fb28_story.html
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accommodationghat are necessy for thoseénmatesto access the prison’s programs
and serviceswithout regard to whether or not the disabled individual has made a
specific request for accommaid@n and without relyingolelyon theassumption®f
prison officials regarding that individual’s needs. And because it is undis plis the
District’'s employees and contractodgd no such thing when Pierce arrivedGEF, this
Court finds thathe District violated Section 504of the Rehabilitation Act anditle Il
of the Americans with Disabilities A&s a matter of law
2. Even If The Districtls Only Legally Required To Providénmates
With Accommodationsrhat Are Both Requested And Ultimately

Needed There Is No Genuine Dispute That Pierce Requested The
Assistance Of An ASL Interpret®@r That He Needed One

Having already determined that the District committed a violation of Section 504
and Title Ilas a matter of lawhen it failed to evaluate Piee’saccommodatiomeed
at the timehe was taken into custody, the Court pausese (prior to turning to the
matter ofdamagepsto addresgshe myriad factual disputes that arise undlee District’s
view of its legal obligations.The District maintains thats legal obligation to
accommodate Pierce depended on three things: (1) whether Pierce requested
accommodation, (2) whether the requested accommodation was necesda3) an
whether the requested accommodation could beigead SeeHr’'g Tr. at 52:18,53:7-
12;see alspe.g, Def.’s Mot. at 5 (“An entity cannot be held liable for failure to
provide accommodations that were not requested.”); Def.’s Opp’ra(“Pierce’s
Motion focuses largely on what accommodations mapassiblefor a hearing
impaired inmate in a correctional setting, rather than on what accommuosiatere
actuallyrequested and necessary for Pierce to participate in the available progms an

activities while he was incarcerated at [CTF].”) (emphasisriginal).) As mentioned
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the Court’s legal analysis renders tharties’various argumentsegardingwhetherand

to what extent Piercactuallyrequested an interpreter aadtually could communicate

in English immateriato the Court’s conclusiothatPierce is entitled tsummary

judgment onClaims landll. (See supraPart IlIl.A.1.) However,as explained below,

this Court finds thaiho reasonable jury could conclude on the record presented here that
Pierce failed to request an ASL interpreter to assist him whiledsedetained at CTF,

or that Pierce could communicate effectively without an interpretat thusPierce

would be entiied to summary judgment on his discrimination claims even if the law is

as the District says it is

a. The RecordEstablishesThat Pierce Requested An
Interpreter

Theinstantrecord is replete witlspecificreferences to Piercemultiple
requests for a\SL interpreterin variouscontextsduring his time at CTF(See, e.g.
Pierce Dep. 427:120, Feb. 25, 204, Ex. 2 to Pl.’s Mot., ECF No. 48, at 34)
Deposition testimonyrom theDistrict’'s own employees confirms that Pierce
repeatedly asked for an arpreter (See, e.g.Tutwiler Dep. 63:419, Sept. 9, 2013
Ex. 16to Pl.’s Mot, ECF No. 486, at 10 (Case Manager Tutwiler admitting that Pierce
requested an ASL interpretejlen Dep. 48:1622, Sept. 10, 2013Ex. 17to Pl.’s
Mot., ECF No. 486, at 26 (Facilities Grievance Coordinator Allstatingthat Pierce
requested an ASL interpretelicNeal Dep. 31:1432:3 Sept. 11, 2013Ex. 19To
Pl.’s Mot, ECF No. 48, at47-48 (Counselor McNealemarkingthat Pierce reqused
an ASL interpreter).)And the accounts of various eyewitneg® not the only proof:
contemporaneoul®g book entries, handwritten notes, and memorailtddocument

Pierce’spersistenefforts toseek andbtain an ASL interpreteirom the authorites at
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CTF. (See, e.g.Feb 27, 2012 Informal Resolution Form, Ex. 33 to Pl.’s Mot., ECF No.
48-6, at 216 Mar. 6, 2012Memorandum from P. McNeal to W. Fahl, Ex. 34 to Pl.’s
Mot., ECF No. 486, at 219; CCA logbook entriegx. 35 to Pl.’s Mot., ECF No.8&6,

at 221)

Most notablyin this regard, the record contaiasevealingset of handwritten
notes between Pierce ahts casemanager(Tutwiler) in which Piercewrites: “They
violate my rights here Thire [sic] was no interpreter for inmate program, Hall
meeting, or orientation process. | fedkic] abandoned. ADA law says there’s a must
[sic] for everyone to accesggual” (SeeEx. 36 to Pl.’s Mot., ECF No. 48, at 224
(emphasis in original).)To which Tutwiler replies, “[a]s long as we are able to
communicate through writing, your rights have not been violate&€&e(id) And
Pierce responds, “My writing is not good[;] | feel our communicati® vey\sic]
limited. That's why | want an interpreter stociould[sic] prevent our misunderstand
[sic]. | want to fully understand what all of you say.” Pierce continue& Aot fair[;]
everyone understands whgtt] going on here, dont’[sic] understand at a[kic]
since | got here.” ee id)

Giventhistelling paper trail and the confirmatory statements of witnestées
Court finds thathe Districts suggestiorherethat Pierce did not, in factequest an
ASL interpreterto assist him while he was incarceratsédDef.’s Opp’n at +2) is
prepaterous. Perhapdo avoidlosing all credibilitywith respect to this issy¢he
District has alsaoffered amore limitedrepresentationthat Piercés repeatedequess
for an ASL interpreterwerelimited to his anger managemesubstance abuse classd

thathedid notspecificallyrequest an interpreter with respect to any other service or
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program at CTF (SeeDef.’s Reply at 5 (Pierceonly requested an interpreter for one
setting—his anger management and substance abuse programrantfailed toput

the District (or its contractors) on notice that he believed he neededexpreter for
any oher type of program or activity.”) (emphasis in origina@galso, e.g, Def.’s

Stmt. of Facts 124 (“Pierce submitted informal resolutions and grievaneggiesting

an interpreter for anger management and substance abuse programnided.’s Cont.
Facts 160 (“The District does not dispute that Pierce made multiple requests for an
interpreter for the anger management and substance abuse progranmewhas at
CTF.); Def.’s Reply at X*Corrections staff reasonably believed on the basis of his
requests that Pierce felt an interpreter was necessary for him toipaté¢i in the anger
management and substance abuse program, but not for other programehinges, or
events for which helid not request an interpret&).) Contrary to the District’s
interpretation of the factshe record clearly establishes tlRierce made so many
requests for a\SL interpreter at so many different times that his case manager
actuallytold himto stop (SeeFeb 27, 2012 Informal Resolution Form, Ex. 33 to Pl.’s
Mot., ECF No. 486, at 216 (Pierce stating “l already requested Ms Tutwlier to find an
interpreter and shegaid, stop requesting and forwarded to Mr Fulton.”And it is also
clear from the record evidence that Pierce’s requests were not litoitihé anger
managemensubstance abuse claasall, and in factPierce wanted an interpreter to
help him understand mogf not all) of thevariousconversations that he had with the
District’s employees and contractorsor example, o an informal resolution form
datedFebruary 27, 2012, Pierce writes about how CTF had not yet provided him with

an intepreter forhis anger managemeastlbstance abuse classidhe closes bgtating,
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“[p]lease bring an interpreter for our meeting, because the case is vaayse(See
Feb 27, 2012 Informal Resolution Form, Ex. 33 to Pl.’s Mot., ECF Ne6,4& 216.)

But even ifthe District was factually correct to ass#rat Piercés reques for an
interpreter extendednly to his anger manageméatibstance abusdass there is no
legal basis for the District’s relatediggesbn that Pierce needed to request
interpreterwith respect to each and every aspect of his prison experianceler to
give rise to any dutpn the part of prison employeé&s providethat accommodatiofor
Pierce in regard to other significant aspects of his imprisonment. TgrECircuit
case 6 Randolph v. Rodgeyd 70 F.3d 850 (8th Cir. 1999), supports this conclusion.
There,an inmate who wasleafalleged that the Missouri Department of Corrections
(“MDOC") hadviolatedTitle Il of the ADA, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Aand
Missouristate law when it failed to provide him withsggn language interpreter during
disciplinary proceedingsRandolph 170 F.3dat 853-54. The Randolphcourtfound
that while the inmatehad notrequesed an interpreter for hisitial disciplinary
proceedng, his subsequemequestwas sufficient tgout the MDOC “on notice” otis
claim that he could not fully participate fature proceedings without an interpreter
andthus the MDOC could not be heard to contend that the redoean interpreter
waslimited in scope Id. at858 This wasespeciallyso becauséhe MDOChad told
the inmatethat his request for an integter “is a separate subjephat] will not be
discussefl]’”” and thusit wasentirely ursurprising that the prisoneiid not requesan
interpreter forsubsequendisciplinary proceedingsld. The Randolphcourtconcluded
that: “While it is true that public entities are not required to guess at what

accommodations they should provide, {hequest]requirement does not narrow the
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ADA or [Rehabilitation Act]so much that the [MDOC] may claim that [thematd
failed to request aaccommodation when it declined to discuss the issue with”hioh.
at 858-59.

So it is here. e record showthat Pierce made repeated requests for 8h A
interpreter with respect to various aspects of his incarceratioareqze,andthat
District’'s employees and contractors generally declined to discuss the mattezrfu
preferring to rely on lip reading and handwritten notes. Moreovetha®istict
concedesPiercedid requestan interpretefor the purpose of his anger
managemernsubstance abusdass(seePl.’s Stmt. of Facts $1; see also id{ 62
(Pierce represented on one informal resolution form that he “wrote abeuu@st
forms” for aninterpreter) thereforge even assuming that a specific request for
accommodation was legally required in order for prison officials to hayeobhgation
to accommodate Pierce, the undisputed facts establish that Pierce didunhke s
request, and undd&tandolph his request was sufficient to put DOC “on notice” that he
might need a similar accommodation to communicate effelgtiveother contexts as
well. Thus,this Court finds that no reasonable jury could conclude on this record that
Pierce hd failedto mountthe request hurdle (assuming there is one), and as a result,
genuine dispute of material fact remsimith respect to whethesr notPiercemade an
adequate reques$dr aninterpreter even under the District’s view of the applicable
discrimination standard.

b. The Record Shows That Pierdeeded An Interpreter

The record here also clearly establishes fiatce annotcommunicate
effectively in Englishand thusno reasonable jury could find otherwis# is

undisputed thaPierce isprofoundly deafandthathe ordinarily communicates through
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ASL. (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Factq]Y 1, 3; Def.’s Stmt. of Facts ¥.) ASL is not derived
from English; ASL has its own syntax and grammar and utilizes signs malanialy
motions, facial expressis, eye gazes, and body postureSegPl.’s Stmt. of Facts %,
Def.’s Cont. Facts %.) Therefore the vast majority of deaf peoptePierce included-
lack the ability to communicate effectively in English, whethgmwriting notes or
readinglips. (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts %, 7, 10;see alscExpert Report of Prof.
Bienvenu, Ex. 3 to Pl.’s Mot., ECF Nd8-4, at104 (expert in Deaf culturditeracy,
and ASL assessmenbncluding that “[b]Joth my personal interaction with Pierce and
the caseelated docments | reviewed to prepare this report lead me to strongly believe
that Pierceat a minimumrequires both quality ASL interpretation services and
videophone telecommunications technology to effectively communicateothérs”
(emphasis in origina)))*®

Despite this evidencehe Districtasserts thaPierce actuallyyancommunicate

effectively in Englishthrough both written notes and lip readin§ee28 C.F.R. part

B Pierce has offered the testimony of two experdartina Bienvenu and Richard Rayboth ofwhom
the District has moved to excludeSdeDef.’s Mot. to Preclude Pl.’s Experts, ECF No. 46.) Pierce
says that Bienvenu would testify aboA§L, deaf culture, literacy within the deaf community,-lip
reading, the importance of using qualified ASL imtesters, and’iercés own communicative abilities
and needs (SeePl.’s Opp’'n to Def.’s Mot to Preclude Pl.’s Experts, ECF 8@, at 5) Ray would
give expert testimongbout the accommodations that would have providexcewith the means to
communiate effectivelyandhave meaningfuaccesdo prison programs, serviceand activities during
Piercées incarceration in early 2012(See id at 6.) The District argues that neither of these expeiils w
help the trier of fact because their testimony donesspeak to what accommodations were necessary
for the Plaintiff inthis case, as opposed to the deaf community at lar§eel@ef.’s Mot. to Preclude
Pl.’s Experts at 45.) The District also argues that the proffered testimonyoisbrased on sufficien
facts, and is not the product of reliable scientific methods, becaesexygerts did not evaluatehat
accommodations were available at CTF, what accommodaBoerseactually requested, and what
accommodations were necessary Faerceto participatein the programs and activities at CTESee

id. at 5-9.) Even assumingrguendothat the District’s objections have a sound legal basisy
clearly relate to theveightof the proffered expert testimony, not its admissibilityeeFox v.
Dannenberg906 F.2d 1253, 1257 (8th Cir. 1990) (“[I]t is . for the jury, with the assistance of
vigorous crossexamination, to measure the worth of the opifgdi) (citation and internal quotations
omitted); see alsdDaubertv. Merrell Dow Pharm.509 U.S.579,596(1993) (Rule 702 favors the
admission of expert witness testimony over its exclusiobherefore, the District’snotion to preclude
Bienvenu and Ray’s testimony BENIED.
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35, App. A(noting that if the public entity does not provide a disabled persontiwgin
requested accommodation, the public entity nfdeimonstrate that another effective
means of coommunication” was provided)The District’s contention regarding Pierce’s
writing ability is based onmts assertiorthat Pierce®is college educated, hassearched
and written term papers for high school and college courses, wrote an autobiography
during his anger management and substance abuse [class] at CTd€ored above
average on a written test administered at CTF to assess his reading aiang wri
abilities[,]” and “communicates with his mother, who lives out of state, tipnavritten
Facebook messages(SeeDef. Mot. at2.) And with respect to lip reading, the District
asserts that thprisonemployeesand contractorsvho dealt with Pierce bidved they
were effectively communicatg with him through lipreading because Pierce gave
appropriate responses to their oral questiof®&eeDef.’s Opp’'nat10-11)

This Court finds that none of teeobservations is sufficient to create any
genuine issue of fact regarding Pierce’s alleged inability to engatjee kinds of
complexcommunicationghat are required to navigate one’s way through the prison
system and to understand official communicasisegardingnedicaltreatment,
rehabilitative classe@ndcustodial issuesfor several reasonsWith respect to the
collegelevel courses that Pierce purportedly took, the record indi¢htgsalthough
Piercedid attempt to takeertain classes, hdropped out after a short period of time
(SeePl.’s Stmt. of Factq12; see alsdPierce Dep32:21-35:2, Oct. 10, 2013, Ex. 1 to
Pl.’s Mot., ECFNo. 484, at 13-16.) Piercés high schoolresearch papers were only a
few pages longand the record showgatit not onlytook him two months to write each

paper, haalsohad classmates edit the papers before he submitted final dr&eePI(’s
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Cont. Facts 1.3.) Similarly,Pierceapparentlyasked another inmate to correct his
autobigraphy for the anger anagemengubstance abuse class “edit from, you
know quote/unquote, deaf language 3e€Pierce Dep. 245:1247:21, Feb. 24, 2014,
Ex.2 to Pl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 58, at 3-11.) And whateverPierces scoremay have
been on thestandardnmatereading andvriting assessment, Pierce’s “above average”
performancen a test situation says little about lgerall ability to understand and to
communicateeffectivelyin the context of discussions with prison doctors, teachers, and
other officials

Similarly, it goes almost without saying that the District’s argument that Pierce
could read lips because the District’s employkeBevedthat he coulds a nonstarter
the Districthas not shown that itsmployeeshad any prior knowledge of, or had
recaved any trainingabout,communicatng with deaf inmates(SeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts
1134, 36) Furthermorgebecause the prison staff did not undertake any genuine
assessment of Pierce’s limitations and abilities whatsoever, their lay opiabmut
whatworked for Pierce and what Pierce could do amounted to entirely uninformed
speculatiorthat provides no support for any motion of summary judgment or opposition
thereto Cf.Lucas v. OzmintCIV.A. No. 9:10-0017-CMC-BM, 2011 WL 6979995, at
*6 (D.S.C. Sept. 15, 2011) report and recommendation adopf®dNG. 9:1317-CMC-
BM, 2012 WL 77178 (D.S.C. Jan. 10, 2012) (noting that “rank speculation is not
evidence”). This all means that thexperttestimonyand evidencehatsupports
Piercés claim that heneeded an ASL interpreter in order to communicate effectively
while he was incarceratedi.e., in order to give information to, and to receive

information from, prison officials and others with whom he interaetethnds
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unrebutted, and in this Court’s vievhat evidences sufficient toestablish Pierce’s
need for an interpreter, even under the District’s legal standard.

This Court also finds that the District has failed to show that providing an
interpreter for Pierce would have posed an unduly burdensorardial or
administrative hardshipSeeAm. Council of the Blind v. Paulspb25 F.3d 1256, 1266
(D.C. Cir. 2008)(explainingthat, snce a plaintiff has established a prima facie case for
disability discrimination, he defendant may assertahaccommod@ng the plaintiffs’
disabilities would constitute amndue firancial or administrative burden or
fundamentally altethe nature of the servicas an affirmative defense to liabiljty
While the Districtmaintainsthat the provision of anything other tha TTY machine
for Pierce in order to accommodate his request for telecommunications Wwawtdbeen
an undue burderséeDef.’s Opp’n at 13, and implies that permitting deaf inmates who
are in protective custody to have visitation without handcuffs @dae a fundamental
alteration of existing policysee id at 17#18), the Districtmakes no suchundue
burden” or “fundamental alteratiorcontertion with respect tdPierce’s request for an
interpreta, nor could itreasonably have done ,smecause the DO&pparently has taken
the official position that ASLinterpretersshould be provideds a matter of policy
(SeeD.C. Dep’t of Corr.Program Statemer2800.3 Ex. 9 to Rocap Decl., ECF No. 48
5, at 928 12(a)(2) (“Written communication cannot be used asilastitute where the
individual has expressed a preference for a sign language interpreter.”).)

Finally, with respect to the parties’ dispatef factregardingthe extent to which
Pierce was (or was not) deniedual access to accommodations other t@aASL

interpreter é.g, use of the TTY machine, official notifications, and CTF’s visitation
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procedures), the Court notes that Pierce has alleged that he was tneageclly with
respect taheseaspects of his prison experience in addition to beingedkan
interpreter, and these various alleged instances of discriminaticcitateas alternative
bases for finding thathe District violatedSection 504 and Title Il. Thushe Court
finds that it need go no further théam concludethat Pierce woulde entitled to
summary judgment of€laims | and llon the basis of Pierce’snfulfilled request for an
ASL interpreter. That iseven if the law is as the Distrisays it is no reasonable jury
could find that Pierce failed to request an interpreter, thateleeled an interpreteand
that the District could havebut did not—provide an interpreter for Pierce with respect
to significant aspects of his incarceration experien&e.a resultthere is no need for
the Court to decide whether any genuine issues ofesist with respecto the prison’s
provision oftelecommunications, notdéations, owisitation.

3. Because The District Committed Intentional DiscriminatiBrerce
Is Entitled To Compensatory Damages Olaims | and Il

At this point, he Court has concluded that tiastrict’s failure to evaluate
Pierce’sneed for accommodatioconstituted a violation ofection 504and Title Ilas a
matter of law (SeePart IlIl.A.1supra.) It has also determinednh the alternativethat
even if the Districwas onlylegally obligated to accommodate Pierce’s hearing
disability if he requested an ASL interpretardactually neededne there is no
genuine disputéhatPierce cannotommunicate effectively in Engliséind thus needed
an ASL interpreter in the prison contert that Pierce actuallsequested an ASL
interpreter whichthe District could have provided to him(SeePart Ill.A.2 supra) In
either case, all that remain$ Glaims | and llof Pierce’s complaint is the question of

damages.
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The remedies available for violations $ction 504and Title Ilare the remedies
that pertain to a violation oFitle VI of the Civil Rights Act subject to certain defenses
specific b public entities.See29 U.S.C. § 794a(a)(2) (2012hé “remedies,
procedures, and rights” available undke Rehabilitation Acare those set forth in
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964); 42 U.S.C. § 12133 (2012) (providimat the
“remedies, pocedures, and rightdor violations ofTitle Il of the ADA arethoseset
forth in the Rehabilitation Agt see alstAlexander v. Choated69 U.S. 287, 295 n.13
(1985) (“Although § 504 ultimately was passed as part of the RehabilitAcoof
1973, the ondiscrimination principle later codified in3)4 was initially proposed as
an amendment to Title VI.”) A plaintiff may recover compensatory damades
violations ofTitle Il of the ADA or Section 504f the Rehabilitation Acif he proves
that the defendant’s discriminatory actions were intentioisaelLiese v. Indian River
Cnty. Hosp. Dist.701 F.3d 334, 34411th Cir. 2012) Meagley v. City of Little Rogk
639 F.3d 384, 389 (8th Cir. 20L15erguson v. City of Phoenix57 F.3d 668, B4 (9th
Cir. 1998)

In disability discrimination lawsuitsmanycourtshaveauthorizel plaintiffs to
establish intentional conduct ®stablishinghatthe defendant acted with “deliberate
indifference” to the plaintiff’s rights.SeeProctor v. Prince @orgeés Hosp. Ctr, 32 F.
Supp. 2d 820, 829 (D. Md. 1998)T he question of intent in accommodations cases
does not require that plaintiff show that defendants harbored an animus tdvearaols

those disabled such as shRather, intentional discrimination is shown by an

1 Punitive damages are not recoverable in private suits under TidEtHe ADA or Section 504f the
Rehabilitation Act. SeeBarnes v. Gorman536 U.S. 181189 (2002)
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intentional, or willful, violation of the Act itself) (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted) see also idat 82 n.6 (noting that “the level of proof necessary for
finding intentional discriminon under [the] Rehabilitation Act means a deliberate
indifference to a strong likelihood that a violation of federal rights woasliit”).
Deliberate indifferences “knowledge that a harm to a federally protected right is
substantially likely and a &ilure to act upon that likelihoot Duvall, 260 F.3d at 1139
(citation omitted). The “knowledge” elemeist satisfied where the public entity has
notice of the plaintiffs accommodation need, and thfaiture to act” elementsi
satisfied by conduct thas “more than negligent, and involves an element of
deliberateness.d.

Notably,while the D.C. Circuit has not addressed the approptedal standard
for establishingntentional discriminationn violation of Section 504 and Title,Ithe
majority of circuitsthat haveconsideredhe standardsssuehave héd that the
“deliberate indifference” standard is appropriateee, e.g.S.H. ex rel. Durrell v.
Lower Merion Sch. Dist.729 F.3d 248, 263 (3d Cir. 2013) (adopting the deliberate
indifference stadard);Liese v. Indian River Cnty. Hosp. Dis?.01 F.3d 334, 348 (11th
Cir. 2012) (same)Meagley v. City of Little Ro¢l639 F.3d 384, 389 (8th Cir. 2011)
(same) Duvall v. Cnty. of Kitsap260 F.3d 1124, 1138 (9th Cir. 2001) (sanfeQwers
v. MIBAcquisition Corp, 184 F.3d 1147, 1153 (10th Cir. 1999) (sanigrtlett v. N.Y.
State Bd. of Law Exam’yd 56 F.3d 321, 331 (2d Cir. 1998) (same&gcated on other
grounds527 U.S. 1031 (1999)Two circuits have suggested that plaintiffs suing under
Title Il and Section 504 should bear a heavier burden shawing meraleliberate

indifference, such as showing actual animus against disabled pessen®.g.Nieves
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Marquez v. Puerto Riga353 F.3d 108, 12&7 (1st Cir. 2003) (suggesting that
discriminabry animus is the level of intent requiredelano-Pyle v. Victoria Cnty.,
Tex.,302 F.3d 567, 575 (5th Cir. 2002) (explicitly rejecting deliberate indiffeeen
standard and instead suggesting that an unnamed, but more demanding, showing is
necessary)however, his Courtagrees with the vast majority of tlteurts of appeals
that the deberate indifference standardts“better suitedo the remedial goals of the
[Rehabilitation Actland the ADA than is the discriminatory animus alternativgeH.

ex rel.Durrell, 729 F.3d at 264 As theSupreme Courhasreasoned, Congress was
keenly aware of the evils of benign neglect when it enactedettheral

antidiscrimination statutes, ariff] ederal agencies and commentators on the plight of
the handicapped similarly have found that discrimination against the hapeidas
primarily the result of apathetic attitudes rather than affirmative animAsxander

469 U.S. at 296 Thus, the Rehabilitation Act and ADAafe targeted to addreSsiore
subtle forms of disriminationi than merely obviously exclusionary conduct[;]and it

is “[c]onsistent with these motivatiohto employ “a standard of deliberate
indifference, rather than one that targetsnaus’ in this context. S.H. ex rel. Durrell

729 F.3d at 248 (quotinGhapman v. Pier 1 Imports (U.S.) In631 F.3d 939, 45 (9th

Cir. 2011).)5

15 Notably, in the instant caseneither party appears to object@urt’s application othe deliberate
indifference standardsgePl.’s Mot. at 14 (citing onlycases that apply the deliberate indifference
standard and none that require animus); Def.’s Mot. at 19 (sarke)ythermoreat least one other
court in this district has applied the deliberate indifference stahitaa case involving disability
discrimination. See Hunterex rel. A.H. v. Dstrict of Columbia 64 F. Supp. 3d 158, 168 n.8 (D.D.C.
2014) (noting that the D.C. Circuit has not addressed the appropriagastafor intentional
discrimination, and assuming, without deciding, that thib@eate indifference standard applies)
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This Court’sconclusion that the deliberate indifference standard is applicable
heremakes short work of the damages analydtss well establishedhat“[d]eliberate
indifference requiregonly] knowledge that a harm to a federally protected right is
substantially likely and a failure to act upon that likelihdojd Duvall, 260 F.3dat
1139 andthe District’s knowing failure to evaluate Pierce’s need for accommodation
and to provide thauxiliary aids easily satisfies this standardlhe Districts employees
and contractor&new that Pierce hadlaearing disability and yetthey did not
undertake an assessmaiftthe accommodations that Pierce might need in order to
access prison servicesor did theyprovide him withan ASL interpretefor all
significant interactions (SeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts 1§0-64, 77, 88-89, 97, 101, 107.)
This willful blindness to Pierce’s hearing disability almd need for accommodation
plainly amounts taleliberate indifferenceandPierceis therefore entitled to
compensatory damages on Claims | and Il of his compldbate e.g, Bartlett, 970 F.
Supp. at 115Xholdingthatdefendant was deliberately indifferent where it was aware
of plaintiff’s disability and refused to accommodate the plaintiff

B. There Is A Genuine DisputeOf Fact Regarding Whether Or Not

Pierce Was Placed In Protective Custodyn Retaliation For His
Requess For Accommodation

Pierceallegesin Claim Il of his complainthat the District violated the ADA
and the Rehabilitation Act by “retailat[ing] againsirp] for asserting his rights” under
those statutes.SgeeCompl.51.) Pierce maintains thahe District changed his
conditions of confinement for the worse by placing him in protective custodytteen
moving him to theSpecial Management Unit 8MU”) within CTFin order to punish
him for his repeated requests for an ASL interpre{@eePl.’s Opp’n at 4547.) The

District seekssummary judgment on this claim, contendih@tno adverse action was
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taken against Piereehe wasplaceal in protective custody because he stated that
another inmate had threatened handhewas moved to the SMU fordaninistrative
convenience (SeeDef.’s Mot. at 18.)

Generally speakingptprevail on a retaliation claitrought undeSection 504
and Title Il, a plaintiff must satisfy the burdeshifting framework articulated in
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greed11 U.S. 792 (1973), and its progesge e.g,
Solomon v. Vilsack763 F.3d 1, 4 (D.C. Cir. 2014) Pursuant tathis frameworkthe
plaintiff first makes a prima facie casé retaliation;then the burden shifts to the
defendant to identify “somkegitimate, nondiscriminatoryeason” for the adverse
action,McDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at 802andif the defendant does this, the burden
shifts yet againsuch thathe plaintiff must prove that the defendant’s stated reason for
the adverse action wasemely a “pretext” fo the real, retaliatory purposgl. at 804.
Because the Distrietand the District alone-has moved for summary judgment in its
favor on Pierce’s retaliation claints taskunder Rule 56 is to demonstrate that no
reasonable jury could conclude thataliatory animus motivategrison officialswith
respect to Pierce’s placement in protective custody, a task th&tiskrect might
accomplishby demonstratinghat Piercecannot establish prima facie caséor
retaliation or by showing thathere is no genuine issue th@tstrict’s proffered
explanation wasot a pretext. As explainedoelow, the District hasioneneitherin this
case

1. Taking All FactsAnd Inferencedn The NonrMovant's Favor, A

Reasonable Jury Coukind That The Evidence Establishés
Prima Facie CaseFor Retaliation

UnderMcDonnell Douglasa plaintiff may establish a prima facie cdbat

createsa presumption of retaliation by showing ¢hat heengaged in a protected
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activity; (2) thatthe defendantaok adverse action against him; and {3atthere was a
causal link between the plaintiff’s request for an accommodationtenddverse

action. SeeAlston v. District of Columbia561 F. Supp. 2d 29, 40 (D.D.C. 2008);
Duncan v. Wash. Metro. Area Trangitith, 425 F. Supp. 2d 121, 126 (D.D.C. 2006).
Here,as noted aboveRierce identifies two alleged instances of retaliation. First, Pierce
claims thatprison officialsplacedhim in protective custody because he kept asking for
anASL interpreter. $eePl.’s Opp’nat 45-46.) As Pierce tells the storjhe repeatedly
askedTutwiler (his case managefdr an interpretergeePl.’s Stmt. of Facts $1), and

he continued to do so even aftéutwiler told him to stop ¢ee id 162). Then,on

February 232012,less than one week after Tutwiler made a note that Pierce “continues
to write request for an interpret [sic] for anger management andeattugation” (d.

1 61), another inmate shoved Pierce in the TV room and Pierce went to Tutwiler for
assistancésee id 1102). Tutwiler purportedlyasked Pierce if he would like teb

placed in protective custoeywithout explainng to him what protective custody was,

why it is ordinarilyused, how long it would last, or how to request release back into the
generdpopulation. See id 11104, 106.) AndwhenPierce responded “If necessiiy

he was summarilplaced in protective custody in Medical 82, wharsfreedom of
movement was substantially more limite@SeePierce Depat 236:5 (stating that
Medical 82 is “complete lockdown”) Pierce contends that these facts give rise to a
plausible inferencéhat Tutwilerplacedhim in protective custody in retaliation for his

requests for an interpretgiSeePl.’s Opp’n at 45)

6 Because the test for retaliation under the ADA #imel Rehabilitation Actvas originally developed in
the employment discrimination context, the standards articdlatemployment discrimination cases
are applicale to disability discriminatiomwases. SeeAlston 561 F. Supp. 2d at 40
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Second, Pierce claims thié was retaliated against whbea was transferred to
the SMU while he was in protective custogdyatusandwaskept there longer than
necessary. Jeeid. at 46-47.) Pierce alleges thatftar he wentinto protective custody
on February 23, 2012efiled two informal resolutiongon February 27, 2012 and
March 2, 2012requesting an interpreter and complaining about limitations on his use
of the TTY. GeePl.’s Stmt. of Factg{62, 132.) Then, on March 1, 2012, Assistant
Warden Fultonwas madeaware of Pierce’s desire to leave protective custodytand
havean attorneybutinstead of granting Pierce’s requests, Assistant Warden Fulton
allegedlyadvised the staff to and “review” Pierce’s status again in one weskng
Pierceto remain in progéctive custody (Seeid. § 109.) Furthermorejn the interim—
on March 4, 2012-Pierce wasllegedlytransferred to the SMU, a urittiercedescribes
as “much, much worsethan his prior protective custody circumstancé¢Seeid. 1111,
see alsdPierce Depat 235:26236:5.) Based on these facts, Pieraikegesthat
Assistant Warden Fulton both kept Pierce in protective custody and treatsfeierce
from Medical 82 to the Special Management Unit in retaliation for Piensgjsests for
an interpreter and greater access to the TTY.

This Court concludes that Defendant is not entitled to summary judgment on the
grounds thaPierceés has failedto make out the elements of a prima facie daseause
Pierce has made plausible allegatiersupported by evideneethat(1) heengaged in a
protected activity; (2) the defendant took adverse action against hin(3anldere was
a causal link between the plaintiff’'s request for an accommodation and tkesadv
action. SeeAlston 561 F. Supp. 2d at 48ee alsdHolconb v. Powel] 433 F.3d 889,

903 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (“At the prima facie stage ofedaliation claim, a plaintifs
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burden ‘is not great; [she] merely needs to establish facts adequatentih aer
inference of retaliatory motive.””)see also id(reversinggrant of summary judgment to
employer because employee had shown that she engaged in a protected activie
employer took adverse action against her shortly thereafter). Thawegsestion that
Pierce’s request for an interpreter was a protectedity. SeeSolomon 763 F.3d at

15 (noting that agood faith request for reasonable accommodation constitutes a
protected activity pursuant to the ADA atite Rehabilitation At Moreover, Pierce
alleges that placing him in protective custody in Madli@2 and then transferring him
to theSMU wereadverse actiosibecausdlierce allegeshat theconditions of
confinementn both of those units were worseanin the general population See
Forkkio v. Powell 306 F.3d 1127, 1131 (D.C. Cir. 200@)otingthat a plaintiff suffers
an adverse action where there angaterially adverse consequences affecting the terms,
conditions, or privileges” of plaintiff's status with defendan8ind Pierce claims thait

is reasonable to infer théte District kept Pierce out of the relative cartfof general
populationbecause Twtiler was fed up with his requests andimishedto purnish him

for his requests for accommodatio(SeePl.’s Opp’n at 46.)

Althoughthe Districtconcedes that a requeer accommodation is a protected
activity under the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act and that Pierce made sucluasteq
(seeDef.’s Stmt. of Facts %4), it arguesthat“Pierce’s retaliation claim fails because
he cannot show that the District or any t& contractors at CTF took any adverse action
against him as a result of his requests for accommodation, much lessthalleged
adverse action would not have occurred ‘but for’ his requests for accommodati

(Def.’s Mot. at 17) But the District iswrong to contend that the ongognizable
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“adverse actiohin the prison contexts adisciplinary infraction(seeDef.’s Mot. at
18); indeed, it is well established thaty “decision causing a significant change in
benefits” can constitute an adversetionfor the purpose oaretaliation claim Cf.
Bowie v. Ashcroft283 F. Supp. 2d 25, 30 (D.D.C. 2003) (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted)(defining “adverse action” in the employment conteXt)And when
the facts that appear on the reg¢on this case are viewed in the light most favorable to
the nonmovant plaintiffthis Court finds that reasonable jury coulcertainlyconclude
that the conditions in Medical 82 and the Special Managementwhrg such that
Pierce’s placement, and comied detentionin those units constituted a change in the
conditions of confinement that amounted to an adverse aé&tion.

A reasonable jury couldlso concluden this recordhat the Districtmoved
Pierce ino protective custody in Medical 82nd later transferred him to the Special
Management Unjtbecauseof Pierce’s requests for accommodatiofhere is aclose
temporal connection between the protected activity andililegedadverse actios, and
it is clear that such proximitgan support an infence of causatiorSee Alston561 F.
Supp. 2dat 43(citing Woodruff v. Peters482 F.3d 521, 529 (D.C. Cir. 2007)That is
a reasonable jury could believe Pierce’s assertionThawiler placed him in protective

custody without explaining to him wh#tat wasless than one week after she wrote in

7 Although Bowie v. Ashcroft283 F. Supp. 2d 25 (D.D.C. 2003) discusses the definition of “adverse
action” in the employment contexthetest forretaliation under the ADA and Rabilitation Actwas
originally developed in the employment discrimination conteQeeAlston 561 F. Supp. 2d at 40
Accordingly, the standards articulated in employment discriminaticsesaare applicableere Seeid.

8 pierce’s evidence must be credited and all reasonable inferences mustshried in his favor
because the motion for summary judgment on the retaliation claionpg to the District.See Estate
of Parsons v. Palestinian Auth651 F.3d 118, 123 (D.CCir. 2011) (“The evidence othe nonmovant
is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn ifaligs.” (internal quotation marks
and citation omitted)).
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her notes that Pierce was continuously requesting an interpreter intoreed his
incessant entreatieq{SeePl.’s Stmt.of Factsf{61, 102, 104, 106.) Similarly
reasonable jury might find th&tierce was transferred to the Special Management Unit
less than one week aftaefiled informal resolution forms requesting an interpreter and
complaining about the limitations on his use of the T(E&e id 1162, 109, 132)
because he had made thosgquestdor accommodation.Indeed,“courts have
recognized that proof of causal connection can be established indirgcshyolwing that
protected activity is followed by discriminatory treatmenMitchell v. Baldrige 759
F.2d 80, 86 n.6 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)
Therefore the District has failed to show that Pierce cannot make out a prima
facie case on his retaliation claim a manner that entitles it to summary judgment

2. A Reasonable Jury Could Conclude That Thetiict's Proffered
Reasons For Placing Pierce In Protective Custody Are Pretextual

Nor has the District shown th&twould be impossible for eeasonable juryo
find that its proffered explanaticior sending Pierce to protective custadyMedical
82, and then allegedly keeping him there longer than requeshée transferring him
to the Special Management Unit, wasetext for retaliation.In fulfillment of its
obligation to proffer'some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasdiot its actions,
McDonndl Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802the District argues that placed Pierce in
protective custody because Pietwdstated that he feared for his safetpt because of
his repeated requests for an interprgsere Def.’s Mot. at 18), and it points out thit
is standardpolicy at CTFthatinmates who request protective custadyst be takemut
of general populatioffsee Def.’s Stmt. Of Fact§ 157). Thus, far from retaliating

against Piercethe District asserts thatutwiler was merely followingprotocolwhen
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she placed Pieez—who had just reported that he had been pushed by another inmate
andhad writtenout ona protective custody request form ttiatear for my safety—in
protective custody(SeeDef.’s Mot. at 17 see alsolutwiler Aff., Ex. 11 toDef.’s

Mot., ECF No. 525, 1 26-31.) But Pierce disputes the District’s assertion that he
actuallyrequested protective custody stalumwingly and voluntarily, and in fact, he
argues that Tutwiler deliberately failed to explain to him what protectinstody
means. $eePl.’s Opp’n at 4546.) Similarly, Pierce contends that a reasonable jury
coulddisbelievethe District’'sassertionthat Piercewas kept in protective custody
because he wouldn’t sign the waiver for®ef.’s Stmt. of Facts 1167-70), and that he
was moved fronMedical 82 to the Special Management Unéicauséded space was
needed in Medical 82 for an inmate who had serious medical r{ieeel$d.{f 161,165;
see alsdrulton Aff., Ex. 2 to Def.’s Mot., ECF No. 52, {31), based orthe dose
temporal proximity between the move and his filing of an internal grieva(8eePl.’s
Opp’n at 47)

It is clear to this Court thahere are genuine issues of fact regardamigetherit
was because of his repeated requests for an interpreter and his fikoegnpfaints that
prison officials and emplmes segregated Pierce initialpd held him in that allegedly
undesirable segregated status longer than was neceasdrihat the redution of these
factual disputes depends on the credibility of the testimony of prison stafiis, the
retaliation claimcannot be decided by this Court as a matter of |®&elLiberty Lobby,
Inc., 477 U.S. at 255 (noting thafc]redibility determinaibns, the weighing of the

evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the factgaréunctions, not
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those of a judge”).Accordingly, the District’s motion for summary judgment on

Pierce’s retaliation claim must be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

The record in this matter clearly reveals thathen Pierce arrived &TF to be
taken into custody, prison officials took no steps whatsotveraluate his need for
accommodatiorso that he woulde able tdhave meaningfubccesdo prison programs
andservies withinthe prisonfacility. The District’'s employees and contractérsew
that Piercevasprofoundly deafbutinstead ofengagng in aninteractiveprocess
designed to ascertain whatcommodationsvould be necessary fdtierceto
communicate effecti@ly in prison,theymerelyassumedhathe could readland
understanyithe words they mahedto himand the notes they wrote to him, even after
he told them I'dont’[sic] understand at all [sic] since | got heend specifically
requeseéd anASL interpreter. It is no wonder thaPiercewas confused andpset
throughout his 54days in custodyandonceeven woefully declaredl feel | [sic]
abandoned

Whatis astonishinghowever is the District’s insistencen the context of this
lawsuit thatits employeestonductwith respect teaccommodating Piertghearing
disability wasentirely consistent with the lawThe text and purpose of the
Rehabilitation Act and the ADAlearly establish otherwisand as a resulthis Court
easily concludeshat theDistrict’s willful blindness regarding Pierce’s need for
accommodation and itsalf-heartedattemptto providePiercewith a random assortment
of auxiliary aids—and only aftethe specifically requested thenfell far short of what

the law requires Perhaps modignificantly, this Court holds thahe District’sclear
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violation of Section 504 and Title Il was manifédsdm thestart, when prison
employeedook no stepsvhatsoeveto ascertain whaaccommodations this nemmate
with aknown hearirg disabilitywould requiresothatcommunications witthim would
be “as effective as communications with othérf®r the purpose oénsurng that he had
“an equalopportunity to participatéen, and enjoy the benefits othe prison’sservices,
programs andactivities 28 C.F.R. 8 35.160(a)(1), (b)(B(2).

Because this Court finds that the District’s deliberate indifferenceda®s
accommodation needs violat&ection 504 and Title Il as a matter of laierce’s
motion for summary judgmern daims| andll of the complaintwill be GRANTED.
Moreover, the Court finds thahe District’'s motion for summary judgmemtust be
DENIED in its entirety becauseot only does thi€ourt conclale that the District
unlawfully failed to provide Pierce with meamgful access to prison servigas also
holdsthat, on the instant record, a reasonable jury could findG@i&employees
retaliated against Pierce as wellhus, in accordance with treccompanying order lla
that remains of Pierce’s complaint for trialttee determination othe amount of
compensatory damagés be awarded to Pierce with respectCiaims | and 1) and the

issue of liability(and if necessarydamageyfor Claim IIl.

DATE: September 11, 2015 KeAoanjs Brown Packson
s )

KETANJI BROWN JACKSON
United States District Jueg
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